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ORDERS OF REFERENCE
(Having application to Torquay Negotiafions)
Fripay, February 16, 1951.

Resolved,—That the following Members do compose the Standing Com-
mittee on Banking and Commerce:—

Messieurs

Adamson, Fournier (Maisonneuve- Maltais,
Argue, Rosemont), Maybank,
Arsenault, Fraser, MecMillan,
Ashbourne, ‘Fulford, Picard,
Balcom, Fulton, Richard (Gloucester),
Beaudry, Gingras, 1 Richard (Ottawa East),
Bennett, + Gour (Russell), Riley,
Blackmore, Harkness, Sinclair,
Bradette, Harris (Danforth), Smith (Moose
Breithaupt, Hees, Mountain),,
Brooks, Hellyer, Smith (York North),
Cannon, Helme, Stewart (Winnipeg
Carroll, Hunter, North),
Cleaver, - Laing, . Thatcher,
Coté (St. Jean-Iberville- Ledue, Ward,

Napierville), Low, Welbourn,
Crestohl, Macdonnell White (Hastings-
Dumas, (Greenwood), Peterborough)—50
Fleming, Maénaughton,

(Quorum 15)

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce be
empowered to examine and inquire into all such matters and things as may be
referred to them by the House; and to report from time to time their observations
and opinions thereon; with power to send for persons, papers and records.

Attest.

LEON J. RAYMOND,
Clerk of the House.

THURSDAY, March 1, 1951.

Ordered,—1. That the quorum ofhthe said Committee be reduced from 15
rr}llem'bers to 10, and that Standing Order 63(1) (d) be suspended in relation
thereto.

2. That permission be granted to the said Committee to sit while the House
is sitting.
Attest.
E. R. HOPKINS,
for Clerk of the House.

87436— 1%



4 STANDING COMMITTEE

Monpay, May 21, 1951.

Ordered,—That the subject matter of the Torquay negotiations, namely,
The Final Act of Torquay; the Decisions, Agreeing to Accession; the Torquay
Protocol to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade; the modifications of
the Schedules to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade resulting from the
Torquay negotiations, and the Declaration on the Continued Application of these
Schedules, be referred to the said Committee.

Tuespay, May 29, 1951.

Ordered,—That the said Committee be empowered to print from day to day
such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee, and that Stand-
ing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

Attest.
LEON J. RAYMOND,
Clerk of the House.

TraURSDAY, March 1, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce begs leave to present
the following as a

FIRST REPORT

Your Committee recommends:

1. That the quorum be reduced from 15 members to 10, and that
Standing Order 63 (1) (d) be suspended in relation thereto.

2. That permission be granted to sit while the House is sitting.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

' HUGHES CLEAVER,
Chairman.

(Note: The Second, Third and Fourth reports deal with Private and
Public bills in respect of which no verbatim record of evidence was taken).

Turspay, May 29, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce begs leave to present
the following as a
FIFTH REPORT
Your Committee recommends that it be empowered to print from day to Qay
such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee, and that Standing
Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

HUGHES CLEAVER,
C hairman.




MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Tuespay, May 29; 1951.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 11.00 o’clock
a.m. Mr. Cleaver, Chairman, presided. : -

Members present: Adamson, Argue, Balcom, Bennett, Blackmore, Carroll,
Crestohl, Fleming, Fraser, Fulford, Fulton, Gour (Russell), Harkness, Helme,
Hunter, Laing, Low, Macdonnell (Greenwood), McMillan, Picard, Richard
(Qloucester), Richard (Ottawa East), Sinclair, Smith (Moose Mountain), Smith
(York North), Thatcher.

In attendance: Mr. Hector B. McKinnon, Chairman of Tariff Board; Mr.
W. J. Callaghan, Commissioner of Tariff, Department of Finance; Mr. S. 8.
Reisman, International Economic Relations Division, Department of Finance;
Dr. C. M. Isbister, Director, International Trade Relations Branch, Department
of Trade and Commerce; Dr. E. A. Richards, Principal Economist, Department
of Agriculture; Mr. H. H. Wright, Department of External Affairs.

On motion of Mr. Bennett:

Resolved,—That the Committee recommend that it be empowered to print
from day to day such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee,
and that Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation thereto.

On motion of Mr. Sinclair:

Resolved,—That Agenda Committee of six members be appointed by the
Chairman.

The Order of Reference of Monday, May 21, 1951, was read by the Clerk.

Copies of the following documents embodying the results of the Torquay
Negotiations were distributed, namely:

1. Final Act of Torquay. (Final Act authenticating the results of
tariff negotiations concluded at Torquay, beginning September 28, 1950,
and ending 21 April, 1951)

2.'Decisions Agreeing to Accession. Decision by the Contracting
Parties agreeing to the Accession of Austria to the General Agreement on
Tariffs and Trade)

3. Torquay Protocol to The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade,

4. Declaration on the continued application of the schedules to the
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.

(See Appendixz A)

~_Mr. McKinnon was called, made a general statement on the Torquay Nego-
tiatlons and was questioned thereon.

Dr. Isbister was called, made a statement on the concession received for
Canada from other countries by the Torquay Negotiations and was questioned
thereon.

At 12.50 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet again at 4.00 o’clock
p.m., Wednesday, May 30, 1951.
R. J. GRATRIX,

Clerk of the Commiuttee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House or CoMmMoONS,
May 29, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met this day at 11:00
a.m. The Chairman, Mr. H. Cleaver, presided.

The CuamrMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. There are two routine
motions which should be dealt with first. First, there is a motion to take
power to print. Mr. Bennett moves that the committee recommend that it be
empowered to print from day to day such papers and evidence as may be
ordered by the committee and that Standing Order 64 be suspended in relation
thereto. All those in favour please signify? Those opposed, if any?

Carried.

Next we have a motion by Mr. Sinclair who moves that six members be
appointed by the chairman as an Agenda Committee. The customary practice
is that I receive recommendations for two from the Conservative members of
the committee, and one from the other parties. Shall the motion carry?

Carried.
I shall now ask the clerk to read our order of reference.

The CLERK:
Monpay, May 21, 1951.

Ordered,—That the subject matter of the Torquay negotiations, namely,
The Final Act of Torquay; the Decisions Agreeing to Accession; the Torquay
Protocol to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade; the modifications of
the Schedules to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade resulting from
the Torquay negotiations, and the Declaration on the Continued Application of
these Schedules, be referred to the said Committee.

The CHARMAN: Gentlemen, at the time the Geneva Trade Agreements
were referred to this committee in 1948, the practice that the committee then
adopted was to have a general statement from Mr. McKinnon,

Perhaps I should put on the record right here that we have in attendance
this morning Mr. Hector B. McKinnon, Chairman of Tariff Board; Mr. S. S.
Reisman, International Economic Relations Division, Department of Finance;
Mr. W. J. Callaghan, Commissioner of Tariff, Department of Finance; Mr. C.
M. Isbister, Director, International Trade Relations Branch, Department of
Trade and Commerce; Dr. E. A. Richards, Principal Economist, Department of
Agriculture; and Mr. H. H. Wright, Department of External Affairs.

Our practice last time was to have a general statement from Mr. McKinnon
which would more or less convey to the committee the nature of our task, and
then to hold a meeting of the agenda committee to decide on procedure. Is
that procedure satisfactory to this committee in regard to the Torquay
Agreement? -

Mr. MACDONNELL:‘ It seems very satisfactory to me, Mr. Chairman,

The CrAIRMAN: Mr. McKinnon?

7



8 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. FueminGg: Will Mr. McKinnon and the other officials be available to
meet with the committee from time to time?

The CuarrmAN: .There is no question about that.

Mr. MacponNELL: How should we pronounce Torquay?
The Caarrman: We shall ask Mr. McKinnon to give it to us.
Mr. McKixNon: The Torquay people call it “Torkee”.

Mr. FLemiNG: That pronunciation will be official in the committee from
now on.

The CrairMAN: Would you care to make your statement on the agreement,
Mr. McKinnon?

,

Mr. Hector B. McKinnon, Chairman of the Tariff Board called:

The Wirness: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen: Since you ask me to make
a general statement, I cannot help but think of the remark of a famous French
philosopher who said on one occasion that “All generalizations are incorrect,
including this one”. Since general statements have already been put on
Hansard by both the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Trade and
Commerce, it is a little difficult to make a statement of a very general nature
without repeating, to some extent at least, the remarks that are already on
Hansard.

However, looking around the committee I notice the faces of quite a number
of the members who were on Banking and Commerce Committee when we dis-
cussed the Geneva Agreements in 1948; and it seems to me that probably the
best introduction, since the committee wishes to have something in the nature of
a general statement, would be a few remarks to show, if possible, the similarity
between Geneva and Torquay, or, contrariwise, the dissimilarity between the
two, because the two sets of negotiations were not exactly parallel. d

In doing that, Mr. Chairman, I shall try to avoid, as far as I can, anything
that was put on Hansard by the ministers I referred to. I am sure that most
of us who were here when we met in 1948 for several weeks felt, at the end of
the sessions, that members of the Committee knew about as much concerning
the agreements as did the officials.

You will recall that when we went to Geneva in 1947 we went to a meeting
of some 23 countries called under the auspices of the United Nations. We went
there with two primary purposes: The first of these was to formulate a charter
which would govern the operations of an international trade organization
under the auspices of the United Nations; the second was to do the actual work
of conducting the first round of tariff negotiations under the so-called charter.

Before we left Geneva, however, everyone recognized that the charter,
which perhaps was somewhat grandiose in its conception, would go on from
Geneva to a meeting at Havana, and that at Havana there would be repre-
sentatives of many countries who were not at Geneva. And therefore there
might be among them kings who knew not Joseph, and who would not exactly
like the charter we had roughed out.

We also felt quite definitely that the charter might take quite a long time
in being ratified by the various countries, and that in the process of ratification
it might have a rather rough passage.

Feeling that to be the case, before we left Geneva, Mr. Chairman, we
extracted from the voluminous so-called charter some of the most important and
vital considerations relating to commereial policy, and we embalmed them in a
miniature charter. 1 have always described it that ‘way. It is not exactly
accurate, but it is fairly deseriptive. We embalmed in a separate instrument
those few vital principles.
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Mr. MacpoNNELL: Is that word “embalmed” to be taken literally?

The Witness: Not exactly. I shall come back to it.

We embalmed those few vital principles in a small document which for want
of a better name—and it is a clumsy one—we called the General Agreement, -
because it was done by general agreement. It arose out of the desire among the
representatives of the 23 countries who met there in anticipation of a charter being
approved some time in the future, to create a smaller charter which would
serve as a set of governing rules for the carrying out and the implementing of
the tariff negotiations which accompanied its making. ;

Might I recapitulate: We went to Geneva to do two things: First to
formulate this charter, the first of its kind, and second, to carry out tariff
negotiations; and third, as a precaution, to insert some of the most vital princi-
ples of the charter in an abridged edition that we called the General Agreement.

You will remember, sirs, that it was to last for three years, the three year
term being from the Ist of January 1948 until the end of December, 1950.

Now might T switch to Torquay. The three years have passed. Thirty-
four countries met instead of twenty-three, and we went this time with three—
not two—primary and most important objectives.

The first was, if possible, to extend for another period of three years the
General Agreement that had been adopted at Geneva.

The second was, if possible, to enlarge some of the gariff schedules which
had been negotiated at Geneva. In this connection, I am thinking particularly
of the agreements which Canada negotiated with the United States, France,
Benelux, and some of the more important commercial countries in the world.

The third objective was, if possible, to negotiate for the first time with
some other countries which had not been represented at Geneva, but which had
manifested a desire to join the “club”, if I may use that word. In other words,
we want to negotiate with what are called the acceding countries in contra-
distinction to the contracting parties.

We had a difficult situation to deal with arising out of article 28 of the
General Agreement, which is the article that recognized that the tariff arrange-
ments made at Geneva were for a period of three years firm, and that at the
end of three years any country might withdraw concessions which it had
granted at Geneva or modify them if in its own opinion it had reason for doing
so. I merely cite that in passing because it was the legal right of any country
represented at Torquay to re-negotiate an item that had been previously
negotiated. ’

Now to recapitulate the Torquay situation: 34 countries instead of 23; the
first objective, extending the Geneva schedules for another three years, pretty
much in toto. The second, enlarging existing schedules where possible; and
the third, to make new agreements with acceeding countries; and lastly, to deal
with any difficult situation that might arise in respect of a country exercising
its right under article 28 to modify or withdraw concessions.

Now a few words as to the results at Geneva, not attempting to appraise
them, because that is for the committee, but merely to cite them under some
general headings. -

In the first place, we were able to confirm an impression we had in our
own minds at Geneva as to the extreme importance of the miniature charter
known as the General Agreement. By the time we reached Torquay it was
common belief that there would not be a charter. While we were at Torquay,
(as I think most of the members know) prominent officials in the United States
government publicly stated that the charter would not be proceeded with. That
meant simply that the General Agreement which had been made at Geneva took
on the character of being rather more than merely ancillary to the charter; it
had become, in effect, the only agreement. Therefore we faced, not more than
we had anticipated but more than many might have anticipated, we faced the
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fact that it was now the cornerstone of the whole structure. There would be no
charter and there would probably be no international trade organization, and
the sole instrument that was binding these tariff schedules together was the
so-called General Agreement.

There was only one defection at Torquay from the list of countries which
had negotiated at Geneva. That was Lebanon. I need only say the word to
show you that there was no substantial change of mind among the participating
countries. Lebanon was the only country which signified that it was not
~ carrying on any longer as a member under the General Agreement.

We were able at Torquay to extend for another period of three years our
agreement with every country with which we had successfully negotiated at
Geneva. I think sometimes that is overlooked by the public, although it was
in essence the primary purpose for which we went to Torquay—to prevent the
lapsing of the agreements which had been achieved at Geneva. It is easy to
say in a sentence that we were to secure such extension, but, as a matter of fact,
it is the greatest achievement of Torquay, that 34 countries were willing to carry
on for another firm period of three years what had been agreed at Geneva.

Our second purpose was if possible to enlarge the agreement we had made
at Geneva with some ten or twelve of the most important trading nations of
the world. We were successful, in that we enlarged our existing agreements
with ten of the contracting parties. The most important of these, commercially,
were of course, the United States, France, Italy, Sweden, Norway, and Denmark.

In addition we were successful in our third objective, namely, that of
attempting to make pacts or agreements with the countries which desired to
associate themselves with the General Agreement. In each case we were
successful and the six acceding countries will become members when they are
voted upon in due course, provided they receive the vote of two-thirds of the
existing members. They will then be full-fledged contracting parties. Antiei-
pating their full status, we have negotiated successfully with the six countries
which wish to join, they being Austria, Germany, Korea, Peru, The Philippines,
and Turkey.

The final objective was that of negotiating or renegotiating items, under
article 28 of the Agreement and in this we were successful. Since certain
countries wanted to withdraw concessions given to Canada at Geneva, we met
- with their negotiations and discussed the proposed withdrawals. In each
instance, we re-negotiated and accepted compensation for any items that were
‘withdrawn. Dr. Isbister can furnish more detail later. I may merely repeat that,
in addition to extending the Geneva agreements for three years, and in addition
to enlarging existing tariff arrangements with 10 countries, and in addition to
making successful agreements with six new acceding countries. we emerged
practically unscathed from the re-negotiation of items under article 28.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: Who negotiated for Korea?

The Wrrness: The head of the delegation was the Korean ambassador in
London; different officials of the embassy were present during the actual
negotiations.

The net result of Torquay is that what had been done at Geneva is extended,
firm, for another three years; quite a number of new countries have been added
to the membership of the club; enlarged schedules have resulted, covering a
very considerable sector of commodities not covered at Geneva; and lastly,
but not least important, the tariff treatment of thousands of commodities is
stabilized for a further period of three years. I submit that when 34 countries
have signed (or are in the process of signing) an obligation to carry on an
agreed commercial policy for a further period of three years, thus giving a
degree of stabilization to international commercial policy and tariff treatment,
that that is of considerable significance at the present time.
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1 do not know that at the moment you wish I should go into the particular
agreements in detail, Mr. Chairman; that could follow at the will of the
committee. I might, however, say a brief word about one or two of the most
important. As regards the United States, we appreciate that Torquay might
afford the last opportunity for Canada to negotiate a commercial policy arrange-
ment with the United States under the legislation which has been used by that
country up to the present time. I refer to the Trade Agreements Act, which
we knew was due to expire on the 12th of next month. These were grounds for
the belief that if the Act were to be extended at all by the United States
Congress, (a) it might not be extended for three years, (b) the Act itself
might be considerably tightened and made more restrictive, and (c) the climate,
if I may use that word, in Congress, might on the whole not be too sympathetic
to a continuation of the principles enshrined in the Reciprocal Trade Agreements
Act. Therefore, feeling that we might not get another “crack” at the United
States under existing legislation and that the new legislation might be such that
we could not make much use of it, the delegation set out deliberately to exhaust
the powers of the United States negotiators. You see, sir, Canada had
negotiated with the United States in 1935, again in 1938, again in 1947, and was
again so doing at Torquay in 1950. That means that in a period of some
fifteen.years there would have been four full-scale negotiations with the United
States and we knew that we were getting pretty close to scraping the bottom
of the barrel. Therefore, we said “Let us get whatever we can get while the
going is good, and thus exhaust the powers of their negotiators”. And that is
just about what we have done. There is very little left now on which Canada
could successfully negotiate a substantial commercial policy agreement with
the United States under their existing legislation.

We made a very special effort with France for many reasons, not least the
fact of the sentimental tie between France and French-speaking Canada, and
I think we were particularly successful in our negotiations of a larger agreement
with France.

The same might be said, perhaps with less emphasis, about the Scandinavian
countries and some of the smaller countries. Of the six new acceding countries,
the most important, of course, from a commercial point of view, is Western
Germany. The Germans sent to their first negotiation an extremely competent
and large delegation. We set out to get as substantial an agreement with
Germany as we could, since it seemed to us that Western Germany might
conceivably, with France, be the key to the whole European commercial-policy
situation, That does not mean to say that some of the other acceding countries
are not important. I think that everyone was glad to welcome Turkey into
the club and it was our duty to see that the Turks paid their dues before they
joined as members. We got a number of concessions from Turkey and in return
did not have to give a great deal.

There is one other aspect of the subject that may come up, Mr. Chairman,
and I shall say, only one or two sentences about it. A good deal has been made
in the press—and I do not mean the press of Canada alone, but the press of the
United States and Great Britain—of-the fact that the United Kingdom, Australia,
South Africa and New Zealand failed to reach agreements with the United States.
Everyone knows, of course, that the matter of the treatment of preferences was
a basic consideration with those four countries. The position of the Canadian
delegation as regards the impairment or elimination of preferences I might put, I
think, in one sentence: Our policy was to accommodate to the utmost of our
ability the other components of the commonwealth in their attempts to make
agreements with the United States or any other country. When we were asked
if we were prepared to see a margin of preference that we enjoyed in one or
other of these commonwealth areas reduced in order that the commonwealth
area concerned might make an agreement with the United States or any other
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country, in no single case did we decline. In a vary few cases, we intimated
that the commodity in question was an important one in our trade; that we
would like to see it dealt with as delicately as possible; and that we hoped that
in return we might share in counter-concessions; but that, nevertheless, the other
party was free to go ahead and make the best agreement it possibly could. In
the event, no one of the four was able to reach an agreement with the United
States. Of course, it is not for me to comment on that. i

I hope I have covered what was done at Torquay in general terms. I hope
too that I have not repeated too much that was said in the House by the
ministers. If I may at this point I shall introduce, in case some members of the
committee do not know them, my colleagues. On my right is Dr. C. M. Isbister,
Director, International Trade Relations Branch, Department of Trade and
Commerce, who as the committee proceeds will give more detailed information
regarding concessions secured by Canada in other countries; Mr. W. J. Callaghan,
Commissioner of Tariff, Department of Finance, who will give detailed informa-
tion regarding concessions given by Canada in return for what we got abroad;
Dr. A. E. Richards, Principal Economist, Department of Agriculture, who was
with us an an expert daviser in agricultural matters; and, in the absence of Mr.
J. J. Deutsch, Mr. S. S. Reisman, of the Department of Finance who can testify
regarding the general principles of the now defunct charter and the still-alive
agreement; and Mr. Hume Wright of the Department of External Affairs who
was with us as Secretary of the Delegation. I hope I have not transgressed on
your time and I now now turn myself and my colleagues over to the committee
for questioning.

The CaarMAN: Thank you Mr. McKinnon. It is the wish of the committee
to hear Dr. Isbister next?

Agreed.

Mr. MacponNELL: Could I ask just one question? You did not mention
Annecy?

The Wrrness: That was an inadvertency in a sense, in that Annecy was a
small negotiation; it changed the picture so little and effected the schedules so
little, I did not elaborate upon it. ;

By Mr. Blackmore:

Q. Just what position then does Havana occupy in the general picture?—A.
Havana had to do entirely with the charter as there were no tariff negotiations
at Havana. But the charter that was formulated at Geneva among the twenty-
three countries went on to Havana and was discussed in a much more larger
group of countries and considerably amended and as I say, apparently has now
died; at least it has never been-sratified by any country.

Q. So we might just as well cancel Havana out for practical purposes.—A.
That is right, and T had done so, in the sense that I was proceeding from one
tariff negotiation to the other.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: There are two points which for myself I think I eould
become a little more enlightened on. Would Mr. McKinnon perhaps just
say a word or two as to why he thinks the charter was not adopted? What was
the main reason? Was it a general change of world view or was it unexpected
developments of international affairs, or was it a change of attitude in the
United States, or what was it that has brought this about? Secondly, would
Mr. McKinnon just say a word or two about the details—I think I am familiar
with them but I would like to be clear on them—of the legislation in the United
States, which, as he says, is really fully availed of now.

Mr. McKinnon: Regarding the first question, Mr. Macdonnell, I should
really defer to Mr. Reisman, who is a greater authority on the details of the
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charter and who might say a word or two. As I said, in starting, the charter
was rather grandiose and indeed perhaps the whole conception of an international
trade organization functioning under a world charter under the auspices of the
United Nations may have been conceived a little too soon after the last war.
It may have been that it was just a little ahead of public opinion throughout
the world. The charter that emerged from Geneva was, in my opinion, not
too bad; but when it got to Havana, it encountered a great deal of log rolling,
the formation of regional groups and pressure groups which led inevitably to
this result: the charter was watered down in one degree after another; escape
clauses were cluttered all through it; it became such that in most countries the
bad features appeared in highlight rather than the good features. I do not
think myself, sir, that there has come about a definitive change in public opinion
in the United States but rather that the United States has come to believe
that there might be a great deal of difficulty in having the charter adopted by
the required number of countries as long as it contains some of the provisions
that were inserted at Havana. Secondly, it may be that the United States has
come to feel, as certainly I have personally, that the General Agreement, the .
miniature charter, is in itself good enough to carry on with. It has not got
within it every provision that was in the charter but it has the basic ones. It
may be that the feeling in the United States is that they could ratify the General
Agreement but probably could not get ratification of the charter. That brings
me, Mr. Macdonnell, to your second question as to the legislation under which
we negotiated with the United States at Geneva and Torquay. The legislation
in question is called the Reciprocal Trade Agreements Act. If my memory is
correct it was put on the statutes in 1934, during the regime of Mr. Cordell
Hull. It bestowed upon the President certain tariff-making powers. It con-
ferred upon the President the right to negotiate, through his officers, with other
countries and to grant reductions in customs duties by fifty per cent. It expressly
said, however, he would not have the power to remove a commodity from
the dutiable to the free list.. In other words, the President could reduce an
existing duty by fifty per cent but he could not put a product on the free list.
There were, of course, many other provisions.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: Did you say by fifty per cent or up to fifty per cent?

The WrrNess: By fifty per cent. If the duty was sixty per cent, it was
possible to reduce it to thirty per cent. Canada took advantage of these powers
in 1935 and again in 1938. At the time of Geneva, the United States was
sponsoring very vigorously the charter and urging other countries to indulge in
tariff negotiations and their legislation was liberalized, in that the President,
instead of being able to reduce the scheduled rates by fifty per cent, as had been
his authority before that, was empowered to reduce by fifty per cent the rates
of duty applying on January 1, 1945. That change made it possible for other
countries to negotiate two or even three reductions in duty on the one com-
modity, as in fact we did in some instances.

The Reciprocal Trade Agreements Act expires on the 12th of June. There
are proposed amendments before the House and before the Senate. In both Houses
rather restrictive measures have been introduced into the legislation. One of
these is that the Act shall be extended only for two years, instead of three.
Another is that the United States Tariff Commission will be empowered to
indicate to the President how far, in the opinion of the Commission, he or his
negotiators should go in reducing tariffs by agreement. This is commonly
referred to as the “peril-point” provision. If I remember correctly, the Presi-
dent would not be bound to accept the recommendation of the Tariff Commission
should he receive one but, should he not do so, he must forward to Congress his
reasons for disregarding it. A third, and perhaps the important, proposed
amendment from the standpoint of other countries is one relating to agricul-
tural products which are subject to a price-support program in the United States.
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The importance of it lies in this: If, under the Agricultural Adjustment Act,
the United States is providing floor prices or support prices, of one kind or
another, a concession granted by a trade agreement appears to have had prece-
dence over the provisions of the relevant domestic legislation. According to pub-
lished information, the effects of a propesed amending clause might be that, as
regards certain agricultural products, the provisions of the domestic legislation
would, or could, over-ride the provisions of a trade agreement. In short, that would
be just about the reverse of the situation at present. The Senate committee,
I believe, in reporting the bill, has recognized that this new requirement should
not be too binding upon the President in point of time and that it might be
extremely difficult and indeed impracticable to apply such a provision to trade
agreements already in force. I have read that the amending provision is a good
deal watered down in wording and I understand that it may be some time before
the precise legislation emerges.

Mr. Hark~Ness: Mr. Chairman, I would just like to ask one question.
Have all agreements made—as far as the United States is concerned—at
Geneva, Torquay, and so forth, been made under this presidential authority,
under this Act?

The Wrrness: That is right.

Mr. HarkNess: Congress has not at any time completely removed any
duty? :
The Wirness: These agreements have all been under the Reciprocal
Trade Agreements Act.

Mr. Fuuron: These concessions made by the President do not require
subsequent ratification by Congress?

The Wirness: That is right, sir. They are brought into effect by presi-
dential proclamation.

By Mr. Fraser:

Q. Just before you sit down, Mr. McKinnon, do they not print a list of these
commodities they contemplate changing in the United States, in order to allow
people to make complaints within three or six months? And then after the
complaints are received the board sits on them before they are presented to the
President?—A. That is right. In the past they have published what they
called a—

Q. White paper?—A. Yes, a “statutory list” of the commodities they con-
template negotiating with any country; those are made the subject of publie
hearings, and interested parties—importers, exporters, etc. —may appear at those
public hearings and give their views. Should the Act be amended in accordance
with certain proposals, the procedure may be more restrictive in that there will
be the intermediate step, that the tariff commission may recommend to the
president how far in their opinion he ought to go, if at all.

By Mr. Blackmore:

Q. Would it be fair to put it this way. In general the United States now
seems to be manoeuvering herself into a position in which she can adopt such a
measure as the Fordney-MeCumber Tariff Act—springing a thing like that
suddenly on us without warning?—A. Not in general, Mr. Blackmore; but I
suppose it is a fair inference that if they amend the legislation to say that -nﬁ
agreement, no provision in an agreement can override the legislation—whic
means, therefore, that the legislation can override the agreement—then, in respect
of certain commodities, they would have power undoubtedly to raise rates. There
is no question as to that.

-
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Q. The trends are definitely in that direction in the United States?—A. Well,
I rather hesitate to say that, Mr. Blackmore, because I cannot seriously con-
template the United States violating or denouncing an existing agreement with
Canada let us say. It is the case, in that connection, that these trade agree-
ments on Canada’s part have been brought into operation by order in council.
A few of the items have been inserted in the tariff by budgets, but by far the
greater bulk are effective and operate only by order in council. Therefore, if the
United States or any other country for that matter, were to do such an unthink-
able thing as to violate flagrantly an agreement with us in respect of even one
important commodity the country in question would put itself in a position where
it would be very easy for Canada to deal with the situation—in that it would
merely mean the cancellation of an order in council. It would not require, in
most instances, any action by parliament. I do not think and I am not prepared
to think that the trend in the United States is in the way you suggest There are
no doubt pressure grouns working, and at the moment the Act is being revised
in a rather restricted form, but it still has to go to the compromise committee
of the two houses.

Q. My remark was intended to take the form of a question—I do not know
whether I put it just right?>—A. Yes, I understood.

Q. Would T be safe in making this assumption: that the indications would
seem to be that the United States is undergoing a recession of public opinion
from the strict doctrine of non-discrimination which we heard so much about
during World War I1?—A. No, I believe the United States is as firmly wedded
as ever, Mr. Blackmore, to the principle of non-discrimination. I do honestly
believe that." To what extent proposed amendments to their enabling legislation
will make it possible for them to be more restrictive in practice is as 1 say, difficult
to tell until we see the legislation.

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Do I understand from what you said if this present Act goes through
this compromise committee the United States would be in a position where they
could abrogate any particular tariff agreement by what you might call unilateral
action—merely by Congress passing an Act which applied domestically?—A. I
think it might work out a little differently in that, in any future negotiations, if
the Act goes through with those restrictive provisions, their negotiators would
not exceed the limit set by the domestic legislation.

Q. What about agreements that are in effect?—A. As regards those in effect
I would not prophesy. My own feeling is that even if legislation is put through
in a much more restrictive form, it would be most improbable that a concession
we have bargained for and paid for would be withdrawn by the United States.
Now, I have to give you that as a personal opinion; it is purely speculation on
my part.

Q. I take it from what you said it is improbable that it would be done but it
would be possible under this legislation?—A. If the new legislation goes through
there is no question about it. -

The CramrMAN: But I understood you to say that if any such unexpected
move should be made by the United States, Canada is in a position to take
appropriate action to protect her interests?

- The WirNess: Yes, and more than that, no such move would be made, I
think, in respect of anything covered by existing agreements because the rates
of duty are all bound. Now,it would be unthinkable to my mind that they would
Just act. There would be prior consultation, unquestionably. If, as a result of
domestie policy, they felt they had to amend in some degree a concession given,
I think in every case they would be prepared to offer compensation in some
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~ form or other perhaps on some other commodity. Would you agree with that,

Mr. Reisman. It would never be merely action?

Mr. Reisman: No, and the only point I ean think of other than what you
have already said, Mr. McKinnon, is that the United States has in fact under-
taken these very solemn international obligations. Quite apart from what
their domestic legislation states, should they be required to take action, they
would either have to amend their international obligations or to violate them.

Mr. Hargness: What you mean by “amend” is “renegotiate”?

The Wirness: They might renegotiate.

Mr. Rersman: Yes, if it involved a tariff item. If it involved a ecommercial
policy matter they would have to propose an amendment to the present agree-

ment which they have undertaken. As Mr. McKinnon says it is unlikely they -

would put themselves in a position of violating the agreement because other
countries could take retaliatory action. As to the new domestic legislation,
we do not at this stage know what the legislation is going to look like. They
certainly have not made any proposals up to this time seeking to amend the
obligations which they have undertaken under the Geneva agreement.

The Wirxess: And as I say, Mr. Reisman, even the powers that different
groups in the two houses are proposing are so worded in the two drafts as to
leave it still very much in the air. The latest drafts I have seen would appear
to leave still a great measure of discretion with the president.

Mr. Furrorp: There is no danger of what was really a disaster in Canada
when the Smoot-Hawley tariff trouble came up twenty years ago. In the last
twenty years public opinion has changed considerably. At that time there were
Canadians who were saying that we would have no truck or traffic with the
Yankees. We have come a long way in our thinking since those days.

The Wrrness: The United States at Torquay did sign all these concessions
for another three years and I think that would be a primary consideration in the
minds of her statesmen and officials, rather than powers they might have in
an amended Act.

Mr. Laine: Did they not in effect authorize the negotiators to speak for their
government, as you spoke for the Canadian govérnment?

The Wrrngss: Oh, yes; Mr. Laing, authority had to be given to them to do
s0. Other countries, too, are tied as much as we are, for another firm period of
three years. And it is not inconceivable that at the end of three years the life
of the Agreement will be further extended.

By Mr. Adamson:

Q. T would just like to ask one question. I gather these agreements coming
under the heading of an Act in the United States merely require a simple majority
of Congress, whereas the Geneva Agreement or the Geneva Pact or Charter was a
treaty and ratification would require a two-thirds majority of the Senate?—A.
You mean, had the charter gone ahead at all?

Q. Had the charter gone ahead at all it would have been considered as a
treaty and a two-thirds majority would have to be obtained?—A. I think so.

Q. But these can be ratified just by a simple majority ?—A. What is -being
done now is by presidential action. It does not go to the Congress at all. :

Mr. Furron: Would Mr. McKinnon complete the picture by outlining for
us the procedure under which these same concessions in agreements are put into
effect in Canada, so that we can understand how firmly we are bound and what we
would have to do to follow the procedure that some members have suggested
might be followed by the States. Would you do that just to complete the other
side of the picture? - : ‘
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The Wirness: We will in due course, Mr. Fulton, come to the four instru-

 ments that resulted from Torquay, and that are named in the schedule. At

Torquay Canada undertook to extend the existing agreements unimpaired for
another three years. She also enlarged a number of existing agreements, and made
some new ones. Now, we are committed to those and they will be brought into
force by order in council, presumably on the 6th of June.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Under section 11 of the Customs Tariff Act?—A. Yes.

Q. That is parliament’s authority?—A. That is right. Section 11 of the
Customs Tariff empowers the Governor in Council to make reductions or give
concessions in return for value received. That is the authority that has been used
up to now for bringing into force these various agreements.

Q. Is the authority of the president to make these 50 per cent reductions a
similar authority or can he reduce them without reference to Congress?—A.
Unilaterally ?

Q. Like our customs bill before the House—where we make reductions in
tariff without any concessions from other countries?—A. You mean can the
President do that? ,

Q. Yes?—A. No, I do not think that he can.

Q. His power is an exact duplicate of that which our cabinet has under
section 11, except that our cabinet is not limited to 50 per cent?—A. No, our
cabinet does not have that limitation, but the President has

By Mr. Fraser:

Q. Is there not a six months’ period?—A. Heretofore, the Act has been
renewed, each time, for three years. This time one Committee has suggested that
it be passed for only two years.

Q. The president cannot make any change right out of the hat? He has to
have a waiting period? Is there not a waiting period?—A. In the new Act as
written? seho

Q. Yes?—A. I really have not been over the new Act carefully. It came
before Congress when I was in Torquay and since I have been back I have only
glanced at it. s ’ 3

Mr. Furron: Well even under our system, even though we have not ratified
the parent documents—the Geneva Agreement or whatever has come out of
Torquay—it is still primarily open to us, and in fact it is done, that the individual
agreements on tariff are applied by order in council under section 11 of the
Customs Tariff Act?

Mr. Sincramr: Under section 11 of the Customs Tariff Act.

By Mr. Fulton:

Q. And can be removed by order in council?>—A. I am coming to that.

Q. Can they be altered by order in council, even if we ratified them in the
Geneva Agreement or the agreement arrived at in Torquay?—A. You mean if
we ratified them in the existing agreements, including Torquay?

Q. Yes?—A. And your question would be, then, could the-duty be raised?

Q. Yes, or could an order in council be passed then varying the tariff rates

~ which had been applied by order in council prior to ratification?—A. They could

not be increased, Mr. Fulton, because we are bound against increasing them.
. Mr. MacpoNNELL: Could a decrease be withdrawn?

" The Wirness: No, that would be violating the agreement.
87436—2
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By Mr. Fulton:

Q. If we negotiated let us say a 10 per cent increase in the importation of
glass ash trays then that is brought into effect I understand you to say by order
in council?—A. You are skipping one stage. The new figure, the lower rate, is
included in a scheduled agreement, if that is what you mean?

Q. Yes?—A. And brought into effect by order in council.

Q. If we ratify the new agreement which includes ipso facto the schedules,
the position would be we could not vary that tariff rate by order in council?—A.
That is right. unless for unilateral reasons you wanted to vary it downward. That
would be giving a greater concession, unilaterally.

Q. Yes, then the Cabinet has still the authority to reduce tariffs by order
in council?—A. That is something circumscribed, in that Cabinet’s power to
reduce duties by order in council is restricted to materials used in further
manufacturing. The Cabinet could not do so on the commodity you have
mentioned.

Mr. FremiNG: I think it might be helpful to members of the committee if
section 11 of the Customs Tariff Act were put on the record at this point.

The CramrMmAN: Does the committee agree?

Agreed.

The Witness: Would you wish me to read it, Mr. Fleming?

Mr. FLEMiNG: Yes.

The Wirness: “The Governor in Council may by order in counc1l make
such reductions of duties on goods imported into Canada from any other country

or countries as may be deemed reasonable by way of compensation for con-
cessions granted by any such country.”

By Mr. Fleming:

Q. The position at the present time is this is it not? The Canadian parlia-
ment has not been called upon at any time to take any legislative action, or
action by legislation with respect to any of these agreements, even starting with
Geneva?—A. No, I think that is true.

Q. So everythmg that has been done has been done by order in council under
the: authority of existing legislation, particularly section 11 of the Customs
Tariff Act. The Torquay agreements do not contemplate any legislative require-
ment on the part of the Canadian parliament?—A. No, but you will remember,
Mr. Fleming, that at Geneva Canada undertook to do certain things; and, in
respect of things other than tariff rates, to apply that agreement to the extent not
inconsistent with existing legislation.

Q. Quite, but it is all within the limit permitted by existing legislation. One
thinks, for instance, of some of these things which Canada undertook to do by
article 5 at Geneva, which turned out to be not within the jurisdiction of the
parliament but belonged to the legislatures of the provinces. As I understand the
Torquay Agreement constitutionally the position has not changed?—A. No,
that is right.

Q. That is done at Torquay. It could be brought into effect simply by
Order in Council—A. Pursuant to the powers of Section 11.

Q. Of the Customs Tariff Act.—A. That is right.

Mr. Furton: And I presume we would have to admit that we are in a much
better negotiating position particularly so long as the other countries have not
ratified, if we leave it that way, than by ratifying the various agreements.

The Wrirness: That might be a happy and fortuitous circumstance. If
anything happened which would make Canada want to retaliate, such course
would not require the approval of parliament.
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Mr. FLEMING: Are you saying that it is an advantage?

The Wrrness: No, I was not saying that it is an advantage; but, so long as
no other country has formally ratified, we are probably in a fortunate position
in that these agreements are only provisionally applied. I do not argue that
it is desirable. It would probably be far better if everybody ratified it. That
would probably make it more regular.

The CHARMAN: Until the others get ready to ratify it, there is no hurry
about it.

The Wirness: The only other countries which have ratified Geneva are the
United Kingdom and Australia, and the latter, I believe, ratified it subject to
ratification by the United States. -

Mr. FLeming: In that case, might it not be done by a resolution rather than
by a statute?

The Wirness: I imagine it was done by a resolution of the House. .

Mr. FLeminGg: The agreement at Geneva was not a fixed agreement embodied
in a statute in any case.

The Wirness: No, not in a statute.

Mr. FLeMinGg: Or in the United Kingdom?

The Wirness: No. I think it was a resolution approving the agreement, and
that is as far as it went. :

The CualrmMAN: Would the committee now care to have the general picture
completed. and to hear from Mr. Isbister?

Mr. CarroLr: What is the function of this committee, Mr. Chairman? Is it
to make a report to parliament? We have nothing to do with the agreements
which are before us. Is it to be a study club? :

The CrARMAN: I believe that if you will read the Prime Minister’s motion
you will get the answer there. My understanding is that the reference to this
committee was made so that Members of Parliament might have an opportunity
of obtaining the fullest possible information in regard to what has taken place.

Mr. MacponNELL: It is educational.

Mr. CarroLL: It.is an educational set-up?

The CuamrMaN: I put it on a lot higher plane than that.
Mr. MacponnELL: Higher?

Mr. Fraser: Is there anything higher than education?

The CuAlRMAN: T think it was anticipated by the government that Members
ofhthe House of Commons would be interested in learning what happened and
why.

Mr. Apamson: We are not to make a report.

__The Cuarman: I was anticipating that after the hearing of the
evidence the committee might wish to call we would make a report similar to
the report which was made on the Geneva Trade Agreement. That was a simple
report to the House of all the information which the committee obtained. I shall
read the report that was made on the last occasion.

Mr. Fraser: Is it a short one?
The CuaRMAN: It is not long. The report recites the order of reference.
Mr. MacponNELL: What is the date of it?

The CHAIRMAN: June 2, 1948. Tt recites the order of reference. Paragraph
2 recites the witnesses who were called before the committee. Paragraph 3
recites the representations that were made by the different bodies asking to be
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‘heard by the committee. And paragraph 4 reported to the House with a copy

of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence adduced, which was tabled with
the report. :

Mr. FLeming: I think Mr. Carroll has done a good service to this committee
in raising that question because while I do not want to anticipate now any
discussion which might occur later, T think it might be helpful to us if you, Mr.
Chairman, as chairman of the committee, indicated what we are working toward.

The question arose during the discussion in the House as to the making of a
recommendation. What we did in 1948 was to pass on to the House the evidence
we received. There was nothing more to it than that. You will recall the discus-
sion in the House.

The CuairMAN: On the 21st of May.

Mr. FLeMING: About the extent of the powers of the committee, and if it
had any power to make a recommendation. I said there was no power to make
a recommendation. I said this material was referred to us in effect for study,
but we were not called upon to make any recommendation to the House in
regard to it.

The CuarrmaN: We are not asked to make any recommendation. We have
no power to change the agreements; but as to the other proposition, namely; in
regard to a recommendation, T think that is entirely in the hands of the
committee.

Mr. FLemiNG: You think if the committee is so advised, it could make a
recommendation? :

The CualrMAN: I think it is entirely in our hands if, as a result of a study
of the matter which is referred to it, this committee wants to make a recom-
mendation. I do not see anything to prevent it.

Mr. Fraser: Could the committee hear witnesses who might feel that the
agreements made were not right?

The CuAalRMAN: The general order of reference to this.committee reads as
follows: :

That the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce be empow-
ered to examine and inquire into all such matters and things as may
be referred to them by the House; and to report from time to time their
observations and opinions thereon, with power to send for persons, papers
and records.

Mr. FLeming: We could if we wished invite representations and submis-
sions of views on the part of other than the officials?

The CramrMAN: As I understand it we have the power to call for persons,
papers and records, and to report from time to time our observations and opinions
thereon. ;

Mr. Fueming: That is a matter for consideration by the Steering Committee.

The CHalRMAN: And as far as I am concerned, I want to say immediately
that this inquiry will be as wide open and as thorough as the members of the
committee want it to be. ,

Mr. Bancom: If there is an educational feature to this committee, might I
ask the witness if Lebanon dropped out of the agreement for purely economic
reasons or for other reasons? :

The Wrrness: I do not know. All T know is that we were merely notified
one day by the Secretary General that Lebanon had severed her connection. I
might say that the schedules which Lebanon entered into with some of the
countries at Geneva were very restricted and covered very few commodities.
My own impression would be that probably it was done on purely economic
grounds.
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Mr. MacponNELL: I am sorry to say that I am already lagging behind the
class. I would like to ask one question. I thought Mr. McKinnon and one or
two others suggested that if and when we signed a general agreement on
tariff and trade we thereby tied our hands to an extent we are not tied merely by

‘making ad hoc and individual agreements with the nations at Torquay. Is that

correct?—A. As regards rates of duty, Mr. Macdonnell, included in the schedules,
those are signed and are effective for the three years; but as regards some other
articles of the General Agreement—

Q. For example— —A. I think I am correct in stating Canada has not
yet fully—

Q. Could you give us a sample of one of those so that one could under-
stand what the significance would be—A. Well, the prohibition of used cars.
We have a prohibition on the importation of used cars. Strictly speaking under
the provisions of the general agreement, if parliament had ratified the agreement
and it were fully operative we could not prohibit the importation of used cars.

Q. But as far as tariffs are concerned.—A. It doesn’t apply.

Q. I understood you to say, Mr. McKinnon under section 11 of the cus-
toms tariff we could make unilateral reductions that were for value received,

“or did I misunderstand you there?—A. I said that if the Governor in Counecil

is acting under section 11, he is doing so in return for value received, but that
is not to say that he could not reduce a rate for domestic reasons.

Mr. FLeming: On the point, Mr. Chairman, we were discussing earlier,
has any order in council been passed yet by the Canadian government to bring
into effect any of the Torquay agreements?

The Wirxess: I am sort of ex officio in these matters. I was sent to
Torquay because of my age and, shall I say, wickedness? I have nothing to
do with—

Mr. Furrorp: Experience.
The Wirness: The order in council would be prepared by Mr. Callaghan.

Mr. CaLnagHAN: It is being drafted today and will be presented tomorrow.
It has to be presented before June 6.

Mr. Fueming: When that is passed, Mr. Chairman, we must have regard
to it in this committee to see whether it brings the Torquay Agreements fully
into effeet or does so only on a modified basis as was done with the Geneva
agreements. Just to give the committee some information as to the
extent to which Geneva was brought into effect, I think I recall a
statement being made in the House by one of the ministers some time
ago that as far as items were concerned the Geneva agreements were brought
into effect with respect to about half of the items contemplated in the original
agreement.

The WirnEss: Do you mean brought into operation?

Mr. Freming: Yes.—A. I would say it was brought into operation in
respect of every tariff item.

Q. Then, you say it is in full effect as to all the tariff items?—A. Yes. The
other illustration I gave was the prohibition against the importation of used
cars.

Q. Or you could have mentioned article 5—A. Yes, I could have thought
of that, too.

. Mr. SINCL{&IRZ In your answer to Mr. Macdonnell you said you could reduce
tariff rates unilaterally, but that of course requires parliamentary authority?

The WiTnEss: Except for materials for use in manufacture.
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By Mr. Fleming: ‘

Q. Apart from the question of tariff rates which you fully cleared up, are
there any provisions of the Geneva Agreement which have not been brought
into effect which could have been brought into effect merely by order in council.—
A. I do not know of any, sir, and anything in the Geneva Agreement that has not
been brought fully into effect is in that status because, to bring it into effect,
would bring it into conflict with existing legislation; therefore, legislation would
be required. That is a round about answer.

Q. No, I think that is clear. In other words, to the extent to which the
Governor in Council is empowered to implement the Geneva Agreements the
Governor in Council has fully done s0.—A. That is right, sir, to my knowledge.

Q. So that anything further in the way of implementation of Geneva would
require legislation on the part of parliament—A. That is my view. I am not
a lawyer but I think that is the case.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: Just before we leave this, you have given us an illustra-
tion in the case of used cars of one of the aspects of the general agreements
which deals with matters other than tariff. Without going into a lot of detail
would you say that there were other features in the Geneva Agreement of
very considerable importance which were not covered, if they could have
been covered by an adoption of the agreements, or would that have been
proper for us to do it unless everybody else did it.

The Wirness: I think the last remark you made is highly pertinent, Mr.
Macdonnell. You will remember, sir, that we did go ahead—in the spring
of 1949, T guess it was—and revised our Customs Act to bring it into conformity
with Geneva. There we were, in a sense, taking a step somewhat ahead of the
others, because we had signed the Geneva Agreement. But because our Customs
Act in some very small detail was not entirely in conformity with the Geneva
principles regarding valuation for duties the Customs Act was amended in
parliament. Now, some other countries, I think it is fair to say, have not done
a similar thing.

Q. Would our changes correspond to the administrative changes which
have been discussed so much in the United States of late and have never
been made?—A. Ours went a little bit further than that; they were substantive
changes. The United States has not yet passed its Customs Simplification Bill
which it is required to do under Geneva. Within the past year, as Dr. Isbister
will tell you later, there has been a very great improvement in respect of
administration at the ports. In other words, they appear to be observing the
spirit of the Geneva Agreement in an admirable manner but they have not yet
carried it into the letter of the law.

Mr. TuarcHER: How would your ban on margarine comply with the
Geneva Agreements? Does that fit in?

Mr. FurroN: What ban?

Mr. Sincrar: The importation of margarine.

The Wrrness: I do not want to get into deep water on this. Although I
am nearing the retirement age, I am still only a civil servant. After we came back
from Geneva, my memory is that the whole margarine situation was referred
to the courts and the decision of the courts was that because of certain domestic
circumstances and legislation it was quite competent for Canada to continue
to prohibit the importation of margarine. Now, that was a court decision and
was acted upon and beyond that I do not feel competent to comment.

Mr. Apamson: Is that the court at The Hague?

The Wirness: No, that was right here.

Mr. Apamson: The Supreme Court.
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”

The CmAamrMAN: It is now twenty-five minutes after twelve. If the

_committee would like to complete the general picture before we adjourn at

one o’clock, I believe we should hear Mr. Isbister now.

Agreed.

Mr. FLeming: We can hardly hope to complete the picture today.

The CHamrMAN: No, but I think it will be helpful if we hear Mr.
Isbister now. -

Mr. C. M. Ishister, Director, International Trade Relations Branch,
Department of Trade and Commerce, called:

The Wirness: I shall retain my seat with your permission, while I make
a few remarks. I have been called on several times this morning and each time
Mr. McKinnon has been asked several more times to add to his most com-
prehensive statement. I came here, Mr. Chairman, simply to be of any possible
assistance to this committee and without a prepared statement of any kind.
My remarks at this time will, therefore, be very brief indeed. The Minister
of Trade and Commerce has described in the House of Commons some of the
principal concessions which were obtained for Canada from other countries
in the Torquay negotiations. For me to summarize at this time the important
concessions we received from other countries would be simply to repeat what
is already in Hansard. :

As the principal negotiator for the Trade and Commerce Department at
Torquay, I was responsible for negotiating the concessions received from other
countries for the benefit of Canadian exporters. I am wondering what I may
say at this time and it seems to me that. the most helpful thing would be to
describe the preparations undertaken in advance of Torquay. To tell this will
illustrate very well the relationship which the Canadian business community
and exporters in particular have already had to the negotiations. I think this
information will have a bearing on some of the questions which were asked of
Mr. McKinnon.

Sometime prior to Torquay, while preparations were being made in my
own Department of Trade and Commerce, and in other government departments,
widespread publicity was given to Canadian exporters that tariff negotiations
would take place, giving the date on which they would be undertaken. The
result was that anyone interested in exporting to other countries, desiring to
obtain a reduction of tariff in the other country which would berefit the sales
of his products abroad, was given an opportunity to make his interest known
to the Department of Trade and Commerce. This was done so that the most
effective possible effort could be made to obtain concessions of benefit to
Canadian exporters.

A large number of companies and individuals took advantage of this
public notice. A number of letters were received and briefs were filed with us.
A number of exporters took advantage of the opportunity to come to Ottawa
to tell us of the tariff problems they found in other countries. I should add that
in the Department of Trade and Commerce there is a small unit known as the
Foreign Tariffs section, where tariff specialists attempt at all times to follow
developments in the tariff systems of other countries. They keep in touch with
the problems of Canadian exporters who are attempting to sell over tariff
restrictions and import restrictions encountered in other parts of the world.
When we went to Torquay, therefore, we were briefed in advance to the
maximum extent possible, on the points of view and desires of Canadian
exporters. We had done all we could to find out what reductions in the tariffs
of other countries would be of genuine assistance to Canadian exporters.
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. The procedure followed in the Torquay negotiations, without dis’cuss-ing
its legal details, but ih simple words, was that in advance of the negotiations
participating countries sent one another lists of tariff concessions they hoped to
receive during the negotiations. In some cases, of course, such lists of requests
went beyond what countries actually hoped to receive. These lists of requests
were extensive and were exchanged in advance.

The requests submitted by Canada to other countries at the opening of
the Torquay negotiations were the result of the consultations which I have
described, carried on to the maximum extent possible with Canadian exporting
companies and exporting interests through channels which were open to us.
In advance of going to Torquay these requests were scrutinized carefully and
in detail by senior officials of various government departments and by the
Minister of Trade and Commerce. 1 think it may be concluded that the
Canadian negotiators were rather well instructed with regard to the objectives
which theyv should pursue in obtaining concessions from other countries.

Now, Mr. Chairman, I shall not volunteer any remarks on the concessions
we actually received from other countries, except that we are prepared to provide
any information which is required by the members of the committee, in any
form that is required, and to the full extent of our ability, dealing with
countries which have given concessions to us, or the export products on which
concessions were received, or according to the location in Canada of the manu-
facture of export products on which concessions were received.

I need only say negotiations of the kind carried on at Torquay are intricate
and detailed, the results covering hundreds and thousands of detailed items.
We shall attempt to summarize these from any point of view which may be of
interest to members of the committee, coming as close as we can to the desires
that are expressed here. 1 ‘ '

Mr. MacpoNNELL: You could do this to give us a picture of your technique.
Take some commodity and indicate in a general way what your discussions were
before you went, what your objective was with regard to that commodity, and
you could perhaps indicate to us your technique there. 1 presume you met your
opposite number of the country where you hoped to get that commodity in. It
just occurred to me if you traced some commodity where you got a substantial
concession it would give us a pieture. 3

Mr. Sincrair: Take Douglas fir plywood, for example.

The Cuarman: Could you get something on that, Mr. McKinnon?

The Wirness: Someone mentioned the item of Douglas fir plywood. It
was one of the most important concessions we received. Other members of the
delegation there had a good deal to do with it as well and they will correct
me as I go along, but let me tell the story of Douglas fir plywood.

In the first place civil servants did not need to be instructed that a con-
cession on Douglas- fir plywood would be a most important one to be obtained
if possible. The United States duty on Douglas fir plywood stood at 40 per eent
ad valorem. Concessions had been made on earlier occasions by the United
States on other types of plywood but this single item stood at what would have
to be regarded in normal times as a prohibitive level for this kind of thing. This
yvear Douglas fir plywood could cross into the United States at a 40 per cent
tariff. I suppose it could cross at a higher rate because that kind of material is
tremendously in demand. Normally, however, 40 per cent is a prohibitive tarff
on this important material which has been used increasingly in construction and
in many lines of manufacture. It is not only an improved form in which to
use lumber but increasingly a substitute for certain metals. i \ g

Here was a produect, then, most important to British Columbia in which
market possibilities existed overseas but for which the demands of the American
market were closed off in normal times by a high tariff. At Annecy it had been
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hoped that the United States might possibly negotiate Douglas fir plywood
with some other country. The United States did not negotiate with Canada at
Annecy but the United States did negotiate with other producers of plywood. At
Annecy, however, while the United States did make further reductions on other
types of plywood, Douglas fir plywood was again exempted from the lists of
their concessions.

‘This one type of plywood remained in the United States tariff with a very
high rate. It was perfectly obvious that this was one of the remaining conces-
sions which Mr. McKinnon referred to in the United States tariff, when he said
that we attempted at Torquay to exhaust the powers of the United States admi-
nistration under the reciprocal trade agreement act.

A fifty per cent reduction from forty per cent leaves twenty per cent. Our
objective, therefore, was to get the United States’ negotiators to make a maximum
concession on this item. Representations were made to us in advance of Tor-
quay by word of mouth, by people connected with the plywood industry both
in trade associations and in various companies which produce plywood. They
approached me and they approached other officials of my department to urge
upon them the desirability of obtaining this particular concession. This item
was included in the earliest list of requests which was addressed to the United
States. v

That takes us up to the commencement of the Torquay negotiations. I could
not, begin to give the committee a daily diary of discussions relating to plywood
during the six months of negotiations. The formal procedure followed in tariff
negotiations, however, involved the United States making an official response
to our request with respect to this item. Their first response was negative.

It is fair to say that this was an item to which the Canadian delegation
attached the greatest importance. We made it clear to the United States
negotiators from the beginning that we were interested not only in receiving
a concession with respect to Douglas. fir plywood, but it was essential to receive
a maximum concession. By the time the Torquay negotiations were finally
concluded, the United States did give us a maximum concession which will come
into effect on June 6. I hope that is a complete answer to your question or to
the points in which you are interested.

Mr. SincLair: When you say to them that we want a concessionfor plywood,
do they come back and say to you: We will give it to you if you give us a con-
cession on one specific item? Is it done on an item against item trade basis, or
is it done by means of bulk trade?

The Wirness: In the process of exchanging important concessions back
and forth, we would not normally proceed to trade on an item by item basis,
but rather by an evaluation of the relative importance of lists back and forth.

Mr. Fueming: I think you made very clear the steps you took in advance
of the meetings to consult the interests of Canadian exporters?

The WiTtness: Yes.

Mr. FreminG: Could you enlarge on that to indicate what response you got
from Canadian exporters, and what volume of representations were made as to
their desires and can you give us some idea of the number of items they covered,
and how the agreements compared in the number of items on which you reached
- agreement with those on which you were asked to negotiate and seek concessions,
and the details of the steps which you took to consult the interests of Canadian
producers who might be affected by the agreements in the domestic market.

The WirNess: With respect to the first part of your question I regret to
say that T cannot possibly answer it, and I shall explain why.
87436—3
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If all of those interested had written letters to us in advance of Torquay, I
could count the letters and report the total. The fact of the matter is that
we did receive a number of letters, and many of those letters were in the form
of briefs.

Mr. FLemiNG: Can you give us some idea of them?

The Wirness: Well, the total number might have been, at a guess, possibly
200. But that is just a guess.

Mr. MAcDONNELL: 200 concerning plywood?

The WiTnEss: No, no. I understood you were interested in the whole pieture.

Mr. FLEMING: Yes.

The WiTnNEss: I suppose we probably received a couple of hundred letters
but that is just a guess.

A very large number of exporters are continuously in touch with my depart-
ment, the Department of Trade and Commerce, by word of mouth. We have
commodity officers who specialize in various fields: I received in advance of -
Torquay, in addition to letters; a large number of statements of opinion from
individuals, through this channel as well as statements of opinions which were
retailed to me by our own commodity officers who had consulted them.

Mr. FLeminGg: They come to you as memoranda?

The WirnNess: Sometimes in the form of memoranda, and sometimes by
telephone. A lot of exporters come to Ottawa in person. Preparations were going
on over a period of months; and over a period of months a great number of
exporters would come to Ottawa. I could not tell you how many of them got in
touch with me by telephone while they were here.

In addition a large number of letters had been filed with the Canadian
delegation prior to the earlier Geneva negotiations in 1947 and we had the
advantage of the information which was compiled at that time. So, you see, I
really cannot give you a simple answer to the question of how many exporters
directed requests to us. But I can say that to my own knowledge there was
no important field of export with which we were not in touch in some fashion
or other. _

Mr. Sincrair: What about Members of Parliament themselves writing to you
on behalf of industries in their own ridings?

The Witness: There were a number of cases where we received letters from
Members of Parliament with respect to industries in their own ridings, in respect
of export firms which were interested in obtaining concessions from other
countries.

Mr. MacpoNnNELL: Would not certain organizations such as the C.M.A. and
the Chambers of Commerce give you comprehensive memoranda on the whole
situation?

Mr. FLeminG: Or the Canadian Exporters Association?

The Wrtness: Yes, although there were not as many of them received in
advance of Torquay as there were in advance of Geneva. The associations were
not as active in their requests with reference to the whole picture prior to
Torquay.

Mr. Laing: In respect to the Canadian Horticultural Council, I think there
has been a tremendous misunderstanding with respect to apples. Were they
consulted, and did they make representations?

The Wrirness: We received representation from the Horticultural Council in
advance that they would like to obtain concessions on apples in a number of
countries.

Mr. Fraser: Perhaps Mr. Callaghan would have some letters as well.
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The WiTness: Yes, and that leads me to the second part of Mr. Fleming’s
question, where he went on to ask about what steps we took to consult people
who were interested.

Mr. FLeminG: The second point of my question was as to how the articles or
commodities on which you reached agreements compared in the aggregate with
those on which you were asked by various exporters to reach an agreement to get
some concession. Could you give us some idea?

The Wirness: With respect to the largest single negotiation which we carried

4 on, the negotiation with the United States, all I can do in answering that question

is to repeat what Mr. McKinnon has already said and that is to say we really did
feel after Torquay that we had pretty well obtained all the important concessions
which were still in the power of the United States administration to grant. In
other words, a certain number of requests were made of us by Canadian exporters
to do something for them which was not in the power of the United States
administration to do.

Mr. McKinnon: Such as a request for free entry.

Mr. FLeming: Taking a pretty broad view of it, say we were asked to
negotiate on so many hundreds of items that involved in terms of Canadian
exports last year so many millions of dollars, and we did arrive at agreements in
respect to a named number of items which represented millions of dollars, could
you give us some conception of the scope within which you were working so far
as requests from Canadian purchasers and exporters were concerned.

The Wirness: Well, it is a pretty difficult question to deal with. It is a fair
question to ask but I must answer it in the same terms as I answered the earlier
question in regard to the number of requests that were made to us. For example,
take the chemical industry in which products all have multi-syllabic names
which no one but a technician could understand. I must confess that there are
very few of these that I could identify if I saw them. In the case of chemicals
we consulted people who were technically competent to be in touch with the
companies. The services of one of the senior officials of the National Research
Council were obtained in preparing for Torquay. This official travelled around
to visit the Canadian chemical companies and returned with a condensed report
of the results of all his technical discussions with the different companies. Now,
I could not begin to tell you how many chemical itenis were brought back for
consideration by this official. It was necessary then to study the United States
tariff in relation to this very long list to find out how many of these requests
could possibly be implemented at Torquay. In the end we did obtain, practically
speaking, all of the concessions which were in the power of the United States to
grant to Canada in the field of chemicals. Representations made to us by
industry were part of a process and there is no point in that process where I can
count the requests or suggestions made. I can report we did everything in our
power to cover the field.

Mr. Frueming: Probably before we leave that we will go on to the third
question.

Mr. MacponNELL: Before that may I ask a question. Could you give us
an idea of the expected results in trade from these negotiations, I mean the
results in terms of money. Do not answer that now but keep it in mind.

Mr. Fueming: The third question was the converse case, were attempts
made to consult the interests of Canadian producers whose domestic sales might
be affected by the proposed reduction in tariffs?

~ The Wrrness: Yes, but my responsibility was solely in the export side of
this picture, and Mr. Callaghan and Mr. McKinnon—
87436—33
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The CHAIRMAN: When we come to hear Mr. Callaghan your question will
then be in order, Mr. Fleming. '

By the Chairman:

Q. Now, just two or three questions on Douglas fir plywood before you
finish. What is the competitive product with Douglas fir plywood in the
United States?—A. Douglas fir plywood; other types of plywood, and other
building materials. Douglas fir plywood is produced ‘in the United States. :

Q. Do the manufacturers of plywood in Canada believe that with the
fifty per cent reduction, that is the reduction in tariff from forty per cent to
twenty per cent, in normal times that will be of value? Will they be able
to compete in normal times, in other words?—A. This question could be
answered, sir, by others at this table more competently than by myself but
I can tell you that responsible people from British Columbia have told us since
Torquay, that this is probably the best single concession which has ever been
received from the United States for British Columbia. We have had a number
of letters and telephone calls from people in the lumber and plywood industry
in British Columbia which I can only describe as jubilant.

Mr. McrinNoN: May I say a word here? I think part of the context
of that Mr. Isbister has obscured a little, out of his own modesty. We told the
United States from the start that we had to have the maximum reduction on
Douglas fir plywood, among other things. It was only on the day before we
concluded negotiations with the United States that we got the concession. It
was long withheld. They told us it had gone back to Washington several
times, that it was politically impossible. We had to do this—what every horse
trader has to do in his time, whether he has his boss with him or not—we had
to say “then, there is no agreement”. Douglas fir plywood was one of the
items in respect of which—up to the eleventh hour—we said there must be a
concession and that we expected fifty per cent.

Mr. Sincrair: T ask this question because that concession is of very tremen-
dous importance in British Columbia. I remember two years ago some of the
more prominent timber people in British Columbia were quite bitter at the
fact that we had not had people in the trade with our delegation at Geneva,
because, as they said, at Geneva there were people from the timber trade in
Washington and Oregon who were there keeping the U.S. delegation appraised
of the fact they were not going to make any concession on Douglas fir plywood.
I would like to know if at Torquay there were any of these experts, shall I say,
assisting the United States delegation?

Mr. Furrorp: Pressure groups? :

Mr. Sincrair: Well, Congressmen as well as their ordinary delegates?

Mr. Apamson: Interested groups?

Mr. Sincramr: Yes.

Mr. McKinxon: I think there was much less of that at Torquay than at
Geneva in respect of every country, Mr. Sinclair. Of coursé that is particularly
accounted for by this: the oftener the pitcher goes to the well the less water
remains to be drawn. From our point of view as we successfully completed
negotiation after negotiation, it was naturally felt by many here—and in the
United States—that there remained only a certain number of things and it was
vital that Canada go after those. However, to answer the question, I think my
colleagues would agree that there were far fewer unofficial delegates, if I may
put it that way, at Torquay than at Geneva.

4 Mr. MacpoNNELL: They did not feel the need for members of parliament
there? ‘
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Mr. SINcmR: In the other delegations how mahy people from the political
side of government were with the delegations at Torquay?

Mr. McKinnon: Well, of course, if by the political side you mean someone
with the rank of minister or a member of the House—

Mr. Sincrair: A member of the House or a minister?

Mr. McKinnox: Well, the United States delegation was headed, for
example, by the Honourable Willard Thorpe, Assistant Secretary of State.

Mr. SincrAIr: But that is on the civil service side?

Mr. McKinnon: No, he is a Minister.

Mr. Sincrair: Oh, yes.

Mr. McKinxon: I did not see any members of Congress at all.

Mr. Apamson: I have just one more question on plywood. You considered
plywood was important and if you had not made an agreement on plywood
then all of the agreements would not have been made?

- Mr. Sixcramr: No, no, he said he was horse trading.
The CuairMmAN: No.
Mr. MacponNELL: No.
Mr. McKinnon: I did not mean “plywood or nothing”; rather “we want

,to make an agreement but it has got to include plywood”.

Mr. Apamson: Well let us get that cleared up. You confuse me. It had to
include plywood and if it did not include plywood you were not inclined to
make that agreement?

Mr. Sincrair: He said that he was horse trading.

The Cuamman: I suggest that you read the record, Mr. Adamson. I think
the witness has gone quite as far as it is fair to ask him to go.

Mr. McKinnon: It is a matter of horse trading and up to the eleventh hour
you have to take a very stiff line. :

Mr. CrestonL: I have just one question.

The CuatrMaN: Well, T want to come to the matter of when we shall meet
again.

Mr. CrestoHL: It will only take a minute. I think it was Dr. Isbister who
sald these agreements come into effect on June 6 and I was curious about your
statement that the United States is rather cagey in applying the letter of the law
rather than the spirit of the law. Does that agreement come into effect according
to the letter or to the spirit of the law?

Mr. McKinvon: All of these agreements regarding schedules containing
rates of duty will come into effect on the 6th of June by executive action, in
the United States as well as here, but they will be in toto.

The Cuamrvan: Can we reach agreement in regard to our further meetings?
We found on the last occasion that if we were to have any .pleasure and
continuity in this inquiry we practically had to meet morning, afternoon and
evening. Now does the committee want to do that this time?

Mr. HarkNEss: Certainly not in the evening.

Mr. Sincrair: Quite a few of the members here are also members of the
Public Accounts Committee which is meeting regularly and will be meeting more
often during the next week. External Affairs is also meeting and it is pretty
difficult.

The CramrMAN: T just want the feeling of the cnmmlttee
Mr. Sincratr: If we meet twice a week that is about all we can do.
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Mr. MacoonNELL: I think as far as we are concerned we are at the
endurance point when it come to finding members. .

The CuarrMAN: Public Accounts meet this afternoon and Thursday morn-
ing. Wednesday is caucus day. That would almost indicate that Thursday

afternoon is the only other time we might meet this week. Are we agreed on
that?

Some Hon. MEMBERs: Agreed.

Mr. Furrorp: What is the matter with Wednesday afternoon?
Mr. Fraser: Yes.

The CrARMAN: Wednesday or Thursday?

Some Hon. MemBERS: Wednesday afternoon.

The CuairmAN: All right.
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APPENDIX A

DOCUMENTS EMBODYING THE RESULTS OF THE TORQUAY
NEGOTIATIONS

FINAL ACT OF TORQUAY

Final Act Authenticating the Results of Tariff Negotiations Concluded at
Torquay, Beginning September 28, 1950, and Ending April 21, 1951

The Contracting Parties to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade -
by an intersessional decision of October 30, 1949 decided: to arrange for tariff
negotiations to begin in September 1950.

The negotiations, which opened at Torquay on September 28, 1950 and
concluded on 21 April, 1951, were of four categories: :

(a) Negotiations directed towards the accession of countries which had
not become contracting parties as a result of the 1947 and 1949
negotiations;

(b) Negotiations between governments which participated in the Geneva
and Annecy conferences without concluding bilateral negotiations and
wished to enter into tariff negotiations during 1950;

(¢) Negotiations between governments which concluded tariff negotia-
tions at Geneva or Annecy and desired to enter into negotiations
for new or additional reciprocal tariff concessions;

(d) Negotiations between governments with a view to the making of
adjustments in their concessions negotiated at Geneva or Annecy.

As a result of these negotiations, and other negotiations entered into
pursuant to procedures established by the Contracting Parties, the following
instruments were prepared:

(a) Decisions agreeing to the accession of the acceding governments
(Annex I);

(b) Torquay Protocol to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(Annex II);

(¢) Declaration on the continued application of the schedules to the
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (Annex III).

The texts of these instruments in the English and French languages are
annexed hereto, and are hereby authenticated, and it is hereby certified that,
in each case where a schedule in Annex A to the annexed Torquay Protocol
provides treatment for any product less favourable than is provided for the
same product in the existing schedule to the General Agreement, appropriate
action has been taken to enable effect to be given to such a change.

In Witness Whereof, the duly authorized representatives of the governments
participating in the negotiations have subscribed their names below.

Done at Torquay, in a single copy, in the English and French languages,
both texts authentic, this twenty-first day of April, one thousand nine hundred
and fifty-one.

Nore: There will follow place for the signature of the participating govern-
ments. .
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ANNEX I
DECISIONS AGREEING TO ACCESSION

- Decision by the CONTRACTING PARTIES Agreeing to the Accession

of Austria to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

The CONTRACTING PARTIES,

HAVING

REGARD to the results of the negotiations directed toward the

accession of Austria to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade,
DECIDE in accordance with Article XXXIII of the General Agreement,

15,

The CONTRACTING PARTIES agree to 'the accession of the
Government of Austria to the General Agreement on the terms
relevant to such accession which are provided for in the Torquay
Protocol to the General Agreement.

This Decision shall be open for signature by contracting parties
at Torquay on 21 April 1951 and at the Headquarters of the United
Nations from 7 May 1951 until 20 June 1951. -

This Decision shall constitute a decision of the CONTRACTING
PARTIES taken on 21 June 1951, provided that it shall then have
been signed by two-thirds of the governments which are at that
time contracting parties.

The Secretary-General of the United Nations shall promptly furnish
a notification of each signature to this Decision to each Member of
of the United Nations, to each other government which participated

"in the United Nations Conference on Trade and Employment, and
‘to any other interested government.

Note: Annex I will ‘contain a separate identical decision, mutatis
mutandis, for each other acceding government except Germany.
Paragraph 1 of the decision for Germany follows. Each
decision will contain place for signature by the contracting
parties.

Paragraph 1 of the Decision for the Accession of the Federal Republic of

Germany:
1 (a)

(c)

(d)

The CONTRACTING PARTIES agree to the accession of the
Government of the Federal Republic of Germany to the General
Agreement on the terms relevant to such accession which are provided
for in the Torquay Protocol to the General Agreement.

The CONTRACTING PARTIES further agree that, notwithstanding
the provisions of Article I of the General Agreement, the accession
of the Government of the Federal Republic of Germany will not
require any modification in the present arrangements for, or status
of, intra-German trade in goods originating within Germany.

In according the benefits of the General Agreement to goods. exported
from the Federal Republic of Germany, the contracting parties
will make no distinetion between goods originating in the territory
of the Federal Republic and those originating in the Western sectors
of Berlin.

The provisions of subparagraph 1 (b) and (¢) above may be
reconsidered at any time at the request of any contracting party, and
any decision taken by the CONTRACTING PARTIES in this
respect will be taken by a majority of the votes cast.
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ANNEX II

TORQUAY PROTOCOL TO THE GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

The Governments which are contracting parties to the General Agreement
on Tariffs and Trade on the date of this Protocol (hereinafter called “‘the present
contracting parties” and “the General Agreement” respectively), the Govern-
ments of the Republic of Austria, the Federal Republic of Germany, the Republic
of Korea, Peru, the Republic of the Philippines and the Republic of Turkey,
(hereinafter called “the acceding governments”), and the Oriental Republic of
Uruguay, which may accede to the General Agreement under the Annecy Protocol
of Terms of Accession in accordance with the Decision of the CONTRACTING

- PARTIES of November 9, 1950 (hereinafter called “Uruguay”),

HAVING REGARD to the results of the negotiations concluded at Torquay,

HAVE through their representatives agreed as follows:

1. (a) Each of the acceding governments, with respect to the accession of
which a decision under Article XXXIII of the General Agreement has been taken
shall, upon the entry into force of this Protocol with respect to it pursuant to
paragraph 11, apply provisionally and subject to the provisions of this Protocol:

(i) Parts I and III of the General Agreement, and
(ii) Part IT of the General Agreement to the fullest extent not inconsistent
with its legislation existing on the date of this Protocol.

(b) The obligations incorporated in paragraph 1 of Article I of the General
Agreement by reference to Article ITI thereof and those incorporated in paragraph
2 (b) of Article IT by reference to Article VI shall be considered as falling within
Part IT of the General Agreement for the purpose of this paragraph.

(¢) For the purposes of the General Agreement, the schedules contained in
Annex B upon their entry into force pursuant to paragraph 11 shall be regarded
as schedules to the General Agreement relating to acceding governments.

2. Upon the entry into force of this Protocol with respect to each acceding
government, pursuant to paragraph 11 hereof, that government shall become a
contracting party as defined in Article XXXII of the General Agreement.

3. (a) On the thirtieth day following the day upon which this Protocol shall
have been signed by a present contracting party .or Uruguay, or on the forty-
sixth day following the date of this Protocol, whichever is the later, the schedule
relat}ng to that contracting party or Uruguay contained in Annex A shall enter
into force.

(b) Portions of the schedules contained in Annex A which are the result of
negotiations and agreement pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article XXVIII of the
General Agreement may be made effective, by agreement of the negotiating
parties, after the date of this Protocol and prior to the date determined pursuant
to subparagraph (a), Provided that

(1) compensatory adjustments negotiated in return for withdrawals of or
reductions in concessions contained in the existing schedules to the
General Agreement may not be made effective later than such with-
drawals or reductions, and

(ii) any government proposing to make a portion of its schedule effective
pursuant to this subparagraph shall give the Secretary-General of
the United Nations at least thirty days’ notice of the date on which
the proposed action will become effective.
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(¢) Portions of the schedules contained in Annex A which are the result of
negotiations and agreement pursuant to procedures established by the Contracting
Parties may be made effective, by agreement of the negotiating parties, prior
to the date determined pursuant to subparagraph (a), Privided that compensatory
adjustments negotiated in return for withdrawals of or reductions in concessions
contained in the existing schedules to the General Agreement may not be made
effective later than such withdrawals or reductions. ;

(d) When a schedule has entered into force pursuant to subparagraph (a)
or when any portion of a schedule has been made effective pursuant to subpara-
graph (b) or (c), such schedule, or portion (together with all provisions of the
sehedule in Annex A relevant thereto), shall become a schedule to the General
Agreement relating to the government in question. In the case of any difference
between the treatment provided for a product in a schedule contained in Annex A,
and the treatment provided for the same product in an existing schedule to the
General Agreement relating to the same government, the treatment provided
in the schedule contained in Annex A shall prevail when and so long as effect
is given thereto pursuant to the provisions of this Protocol.

(e) For the purposes of this Protocol, the “existing schedules to the General
Agreement” shall mean the schedules annexed to the General Agreement and
to the Annecy Protocol of Terms of Accession, as modified by: (i) the provisions
of any protocol relating to their rectification or modification, or (ii) any other
action, which was effective on September 28, 1950, taken pursuant to a specific
provision of the General Agreement or to procedures established by the
CONTRACTING PARTIES.

; 4. Any government which has signed this Protocol shall be free at any time
to withhold or to withdraw in whole or in part any concession, provided for in
the appropriate schedule annexed to this Protocol, in respect of which such
government determines that it was initially negotiated with a government which
has not signed this Protocol, Provided that

(i) the government withholding or withdrawing in whole or in part any

(i1)

(111

~

such concession shall give notice to all contracting parties, acceding
governments and Uruguay within thirty days after the date of such
withholding or withdrawal and, upon request, shall consult with any
contracting party having a substantial interest in a product involved;
any such withholding or withdrawal shall cease to be effective on the
thirtieth day following the day upon which the government with which
it was initially negotiated signs this Protocol; and

this paragraph shall not authorize the withdrawal or withholding of
any compensatory adjustments resulting from any negotiations and
agreement described in subparagraphs (b) and (c¢) of paragraph 3,
unless all withdrawals of or reductions in concessions contained in the
existing schedules to the General Agreement, in return for which
such compensatory adjustments were negotiated, are withheld or
withdrawn for the same period of time.

5. (a) In each case in which Article II of the General Agreement refers to
the date of the Agreement, the applicable date in respect of the schedules
annexed to this Protocol shall be the date of this Protocol.

(b) In each case in which paragraph 6 of Article V, subparagraph 4 (d) of
Article VII, and subparagraph 3(c) of Article X of the General Agreement refer
the date of that Agreement, the applicable date in respect of the schedules
government shall be March 24, 1948.
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(¢) In the case of the references in paragraph 11 of Article XVIII of the .
General Agreement to September 1, 1947 and October 10, 1947, the applicable
dates in respect to each acceding government shall be November 1, 1950 and
January 15, 1951, respectively.

(d) In the case of the reference in paragraph 1 of Article XXVIII of the
General Agreement to January 1, 1951, the applicable date in respect of the
schedules annexed to this Protocol shall be January 1, 1954.

6. (a) The text of paragraph 1 of Article XXVIII of the General Agree-
ment shall be amended by the deletion of “On or after January 1, 1951” and the
substitution therefor of “On or after January 1, 1954”.

(b) Signature of this Protocol in aecordance with paragraph 10 shall be
deemed to constitute the deposit of an instrument of acceptance of the amendment
set forth in subparagraph (a), within the meaning of Article XXX, paragraph 2,
of the General Agreement.

(¢) The amendment set forth in subparagraph (a) shall become effective, in
accordance with Article XXX, paragraph 1, of the General Agreement, when this
Protocol shall have been signed by two-thirds of the governments which are at
that time contracting parties.

(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of subparagraph (¢), the amendment
set forth in subparagraph (a) shall not become effective in respect of concessions
initially negotiated by a contracting party which has signed this Protocol with a
contracting party which has not signed either this Protocol or the Declaration
on the Continued Application of the Schedules of the General Agreement annexed
to the Final Act signed at Torquay on 21 April 1951.

7. (a) The provisions of the General Agreement to be applied by an acceding
government shall be those contained in the text annexed to the Final Act of the
Second Session of the Preparatory Committee of the United Nations Conference
on  Trade and Employment as rectified, amended, supplemented, or otherwise
modified by such of the following instruments:

Protocol Modifying Certain Provisions, signed at Havana on March 24, 1948

Special Protocol Relating to Article XXIV signed at Havana on March

24, 1948

Special Protocol Modifying Article XIV signed at Havana on March 24, 1948

Protocol of Rectifications signed at Havana on March 24, 1948

Protocol Modifying Part I and Article XXIX, signed at Geneva on

September 14, 1948
* Protocol Modifying Part II and Article XXVI, signed at Geneva on
September 14, 1948

Second Protocol of Rectifications, signed at Geneva, on September 14, 1948

Declaration of May 9, 1949 relating to Section E of Schedule XIX

Declaration of August 11, 1949, relating to Section B of Schedule XIX

Protocol Modifying Article XXVI, signed at Annecy on August 13, 1949

Protocol Replacing Schedule I (Australia) signed at Annecy on August

13, 1949
Protocol Replacing Schedule VI (Ceylon) signed at Annecy on August
13, 1949

First Protocol of Modifications, signed at Annecy on August 13, 1949

Third Protocol of Rectifications, signed at Annecy on August 13, 1949

Annecy Protocol of Terms of Accession, signed at Annecy on October 10, 1949

Fourth Protocol of Rectifications, signed at Geneva on April 3, 1950

Fifth Protocol of Rectifications, signed at Torquay on December 16, 1950
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and by such other instruments drawn up by the Contracting Parties, as may
have become effective by the day on which this Protocol enters into force for that
government. ;

(b) Signature of this Protocol by an acceding government shall constitute
an acceptance of the rectifications, amendments, supplementations or other
modifications of the General Agreement by such of the instruments named in
subparagraph (a), and by such other instruments drawn up by the Contracting
Parties and open for acceptance, as may not have become effective by the date on
which this Protocol enters into force for that government, such acceptance to
take effect upon the same day as the signature of this Protocol by that
government,

(c) Without prejudice to any action taken by a contracting party under
Article XXXV, signature of this Protocol by a contracting party or Uruguay
shall constitute, except as it may specify otherwise at the time of signature, an
acceptance of the rectifications, amendments, supplementations or other
modifications of the General Agreement by such of the instruments named in
subparagraph (a) and by such other instruments drawn up by the Contracting
Parties and open for acceptance, as had not been signed or accepted by that
contracting party or Uruguay, such acceptance to take effect on the day of
signature.

8. Any acceding government which has signed this Protocol shall be free to
withdraw its provisional application of the General Agreement and such with-
drawal shall take effect on the sixtieth day following the day on which written
notice of such withdrawal is received by the Secretary-General of the United
Nations.

9. (a) Any acceding government which has signed this Protocol and has
not given notice of withdrawal under paragraph 8, may, on or after the date
on which the General Agreement enters into force pursuant to Article XXVI
thereof, accede to that Agreement upon the applicable terms of this Protocol
by deposit of an instrument of accession with the Secretary-General of the
United Nations. -Such accession shall take effect on the day on which the
General Agreement enters into force pursuant to Article XXVI, or on the
thirtieth day following the day of the deposit of the instrument of accession,
whichever shall be the later.

(b) Accession to the General Agreement pursuant to subparagraph (a)
shall, for the purpose of paragraph 2 of Article XXXII of that Agreement, be
regarded as acceptance of the Agreement pursuant to paragraph 3 of Article
XXVT thereof.

10. (a) The original text of this Protocol shall be opened for signature
at Torquay by present contracting parties and acceding governments on
21 April, 1951. It shall thereafter be deposited with the Secretary-General of
the United Nations and shall be open for signature at the Headquarters of
the United Nations from 7 May 1951 to 21 October 1951 by present contracting
parties and acceding governments, and by Uruguay, provulqd Uruguay shall
previously have signed the Annecy Protocol of Terms of Accession in accordance
with the decision of the Contracting Parties of 9 November 1950.

(b) The Secretary-General of the United Nations shall promptly furnish
a certified copy of this Protocol, and a notification of each signature to this
Protocol, of each deposit of an instrument of accession under paragraph 9(a),
and of each notice under paragraph 3(b) or 8, to each Men;ber of t}le United
Nations, to each government which participated in the United Nations Con-
ference on Trade and Employment, and to any other interested government.
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(¢) The Secretary-General is authorized to register this Protocol in accord-
ance with Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

11. Provided a decision under Article XXXIII of the General Agreement
has been taken agreeing to the accession of an acceding government, this
Protocol, including the schedule relating to that acceding government contained
in Annex B, shall enter into force for that acceding government

(a) on 20 July, 1951, this Protocol has been signed by that acceding
government by 20 June 1951, or
(b) on the thirtieth day following the day upon which it shall have
been signed by that acceding governemnt, if it -has not been signed
by that acceding government, by 20 June, 1951.
The date of this Protocol shall be 21 April 1951.

Done at Torquay, in a single copy, in the English and French languages,
both texts authentic except as otherwise specified with respect to schedules

annexed hereto.

Note: There will follow a signature page for the contractmg parties, Uruguay
and acceding governments.

ANNEX A

SCHEDULES OF PRESENT CONTRACTING PARTIES AND URUGUAY

ANNEX B

SCHEDULES OF ACCEDING GOVERNMENTS
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ANNEX III

DECLARATION ON THE CONTINUED APPLICATION OF THE
SCHEDULES TO THE GENERAL AGREEMENT
ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

The Contracting Parties to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(hereinafter referred to as “the General Agreement’)

Desiring to continue the application of the schedules to the General Agree-
ment until January 1, 1954,

Having taken note of the modifications made in accordance with the provi-
sions of Article XXVIII of the General Agreement in certain items of the said
schedules, which modifications are incorporated in Annex A to the Torquay
Protocol to the General Agreement, dated today,

Hereby Declare that they will not invoke prior to January 1, 1954 the
provisions of paragraph 1 of Article XXVIII of the General Agreement to modify
or cease to apply the treatment which they have agreed to accord under Article
II of the General Agreement to any product described in the appropriate
schedule annexed to the General Agreement.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph shall not apply to concessions
initially negotiated with a government with respect to which neither this
Declaration nor the Torquay Protocol to the General Agreement is in effect.

The original of this Declaration shall be deposited with the Secretary-
General of the United Nations who is authorised to register this Declaration in
accordance with Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

The Secretary-General of the United Nations shall promptly furnish a
certified copy of this Declaration to each Member of the United Nations, to
each other government which participated in the United Nations Conference on
Trade and Employment, and to any other interested government.

In Witness whereof the respective representatives, duly authorised, have
signed the present Declaration. T

Done at Torquay, in a single copy, in the English and French languages,
both texts authentic, this twenty-first day of April, one thousand nine hundred
and fifty-one.

Note: There will follow place for the signatures of the contracting parties.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WED&ESDAY, May 30, 1951.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 4.00 o’clock
pm. Mr. Cleaver, Chairman, presided. -

Members present : Adamson, Argue, Ashbourne, Bennett, Blackmore, Cannon,
Carroll, Coté (St. Jean-Iberville-Napierville), Crestohl, Fleming, Fraser, Fulford,
Gingras, Gour (Russell), Harkness, Hellyer, Helme, Hunter, Laing, Leduc,
Macdonnell (Greenwood), Picard, Richard (Gloucester), Richard (Ottawa East),
Riley, Sinclair, Thatcher.

In attendance: Mr. Hector B. McKinnon, Chairman of Tariff Board; Mr.
W. J. Callaghan, Commissioner of Tariff, Department of Finance; Dr..C. M.
Isbister, Director, International Trade Relations Branch, Department of Trade
and Commerce; Dr. E. A. Richards, Principal Economist, Department of Agri-
culture; Mr. J. J. Deutsch, Director, International Economic Relations Division,
Department of Finance; Mr. S. S. Reisman, International Economic Relations
Division, Department of Finance.

On motion of Mr. Carroll:

Resolved,—That the Committee print from day to day such copies of its
minutes of proceedings and evidence, in French and English, as may in the
opinion of the Chairman, be required.

On motion of Mr. Laing:

Ordered,—That the documents embodying the results of the Torquay
Negotiations be printed as an appendix to the report of the meeting held on
Tuesday, May 29, 1951. (See Appendixz A to Minutes of Proceedings and
Evidence, Tuesday, May 29, 1951.)

Mr. Callaghan was called and tabled for distribution copies of a document
showing the number of items in the tariff entitled “Tariff Items”. At the
suggestion of the Chairman, it was agreed that this document should be printed
as Appendiz A to the report of this day’s proceedings.

Mr. Callaghan also tabled for distribution copies of a document entitled:
“Statement showing the British Preferential and Most-Favoured-Nation Rates
of duty in effect prior to and after Torquay Tariff Negotiations and the total
imports from all counties during the calendar year 1949 of the products listed
1 Schedule V to the Torquay Trade Agreement”.

On the motion of Mr. Sinclair:

Ordered,—That the latter document tabled by Mr. Callaghan be printed as
an appendix to the report of this day’s proceedings. (See Appendiz B)

Mr. Callaghan made a statement with respect to the two documents tabled
and was questioned thereon.

Messrs. McKinnon, Deutsch and Isbister answered questions, specifically
referred to them, arising out of the evidence given by Mr. Callaghan.

At. 5.50 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the
Chair.
R. J. GRATRIX,

Clerk of the Committee.
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; House or COMMONS,
May 30, 1951.

The CrairMaN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. First, we should have
a ‘motion with regard to printing. On the occasion when this committee dealt
with the Geneva trade agreements we started off with printing 500 copies in
English and 200in French, and later as the need arose the number was increased.

Mr. Carroll moves that the committee print from day to day such copies
of its minutes of proceedings and evidence, in French and English, as may in the
opinion of the Chairman, be required. I will ask all those in favour to so
indicate.

Carried.

Now, gentiemen, I should like to have authority to have printed as an
appendix to the evidence taken at our first meeting the documents embodying
the results of the Torquay negotiations. Mr. Laing so moves. Will all those
in favour so indicate?

Carried.

(Appendix A to Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence, Tuesday, May 29,
1951—Documents embodying the results of the Torquay negotiations.)

Now, just to carry on from where we left off yesterday, I will ask Mr.
Isbister if he has anything further to say to the committee. 3

Mr. IsBister: Mr. Chairman, I have nothing further to propose in the
way of a prepared statement.

The CaamrMAN: Do members of the committee wish to ask any further
questions of Mr. Isbister with regard to his statement? If not, shall we hear
Mr. Callaghan?

Mr. W. J. Callaghan, Commissioner of Tariff, Department of Finance,

called:

The Wrirness: Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, at the present
time I am going to make a few general remarks. First of all with regard to
the tariff, the second last consolidation was issued in 1944; the present con-
solidation was printed in 1950. It may be necessary to have a new consolidation
printed in a year’s time.

We are often asked how many items there are in the tariff. There is only
one way to find out and that is to count them. We had a count made and found
that in the printed tariff there are 1,927. If we add the new items of the
Torquay agreement there would be 97 more, and the new items in the budget
this year would add 14; so we can safely say there are about 2,038 items in
the customs tariff. That is only a figurative guidance because one item may
be worth a lot and the next one may be worth very little.

Mr. MacpoxNELL: Do you have to know them all to be a tariff expert?
The Wrrness: The Canadian tariff today is a three columnar tariff: British
preferential, the most-favoured-nation, and the general. Some of the items

41
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are free under the three tariffs—the British preferential, the most-favoured-
nation, and the general. I find there are now about 446 items in this category.

Then there is another group of items, about 141, that are free both on
the British preferential and most-favoured-nation tariffs; and there are about
576 items which are duty free under the British preferential with rates of duty
under most-favoured-nation and general tariffs. ;

This leaves 875 items dutiable under the B.P., m.f.n. and general tariffs.
This does not mean that only 875 items carry a margin of tariff preference
for products of British commonwealth origin. To this figure should be added
the 576 items that are duty free under the B.P. only. It could be safely
estimated that a preference exists today on about 1,450 items in the tariff. By
- preference 1 mean where there is a difference between the British preferential
and the most-favoured-nation rates of duty.

Mr. CarrorL: Are they enumerated in one of these three categories?

The Wirness: Everything under the sun comes under some one particular
item of the tariff.

Mr. CarroLn: Either the preferential, most-favoured-nation or the general?

The Wirness: Yes. Everything that is imaginable comes under the 2,038
items. If there iz no specific item in the tariff, item 711 applies.

Mr. Laing: Or n.o.p.?

The Wirness: N.o.p. is used of an item if the product is not provided for
some place else. :

Mr. McKinnon: I think it might be well for Mr. Callaghan to repeat
his last statement. Some members of the committee were trying to take it
down. I refer to the statement where you gave the number of items which
bear a preference out of the total number of items. ‘

The Wirness: I will do a little better than that; I will distribute a copy
of what T stated.

The Cuamrman: Shall this statement be printed as an Appendix to today’s
Proceedings? Agreed. ;
(Appendix A—Statement of tariff items.)

Mr. MAcpoNNEL.: May I ask if Mr. Callaghan is going to give us figures
which will indicate the relative importance of these items to our total imports?

The Wrirness: The volume of trade for a specific year under each of these
groups? With the figures I have I might be able to compile this information.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: We cannot roughly use figures like 2,000 and 1,450 and
draw any inference.

/

By Mr. Harkness:

Q. Have you any breakdown, or can one be secured as to which of these
dutiable items are what you would call raw products and which are called
manufactured goods, and the value of each?—A. No, I have not got that.

Q. You have no figures on that—A. No, there are no figures.

Q. No figures as to the value of each?—A. There are somewhat similar
figures given in the front of the trade returns, but sometimes materials are
included with manufactured goods. Now, take automobiles and automobile
parts: you cannot separate those. Take one under the heading of the finished
article.

Q. Those are all manufactured goods—A. Yes, they are manufactured
goods.
¥ Q. I am talking abont where there is any breakdown as between raw
products like sugar on the one hand and on the other hand automobiles or
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-automobile parts?—A. Sugar is a manufactured product, too. I will look into

this matter and see if the Bureau of Statistics have ever compiled such infor-

mation. _
Mr. Sivcratr: Would you not have trouble in deciding too whether lumber

is a raw product or whether the log itself is a raw product, or whether plywood

is a raw product; in the tariff items in the present budget you have some tariff
items which include rough, unfinished parts as well as final parts?

The Wrirness: Yes, that is true. 1 will look into this. It may not be
possible to get the information. I do mot think it is possible.

I have prepared another statement which I think will be useful to the
committee, and I have copies here, showing the British preferential and most-
favoured-nation rates of duty in effect prior to and after the Torquay tariff
negotiations, and the total imports from all countries during the calendar year
1949 of the products listed in schedule V to the Torquay trade agreement.

This document is an extended copy of the Torquay trade agreement with
the British preferential rates before and after Torquay and the most-favoured-
nation rates before and after Torquay and the amount of the total trade
involved.

Mr. Sincratr: Mr. Chairman, since this committee is to be regarded as of
value from an educational point of view as well as for its committee purposes,
I would suggest that this statement would make a very useful appendix to our
proceedings. It appears rather bulky, but I do not think it will actually be
bulky when it is printed.

Mr. Hunter: In that last statement—in the first sheet you gave us—do I
understand that of the 875 items dutiable under the free tariffs there is a
preference in each case for the British preferential? You say in your state-
ment: ‘“This leaves 875 items dutiable under the British preferential, most
favoured nation and general tariffs. This does not mean that only 875 items
carry a margin of tariff preference for products of British commonwelath origin.
To this figure should be added the 576 items that are duty free under the
B.P. only.”

The Wirness: Yes.

The CaamrMAN: Mr. Sinclair moves that the statement showing the British
prefeerntial and most favoured nation rates of duty in effect prior to and after
the Torquay tariff negotiations should be printed as an appendix to today’s
evidence. I think it would be very useful to the committee members and to
’ighe members of the House to have that information in a nice consolidated

orm.

Mr. Hargness: Yes, as a statement on the importance of these various
items, this is shown quite clearly.

Agreed. :

(See Appendix B.)

Mr. Laing: Did I hear Mr. Callaghan give the total figure for the column
on the right-hand side? ;

The WirNess: The total figure on the right-hand side is shown there. It
amounts to something like $665 million.

By Mr. Macdonnell :

Q. That is out of the total import trade of— —A. In the neighbourhood of
$3 billion for the 1949 total import trade; $2,761,000,000 for 1950—$3,174,000,000
—somewhere around $3 billion total import trade.

5 YQ. In other words, these items cover one-fifth of our total import trade?—
. Yes.
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Q. Could we have some generalization as to the rest? Is the rest free?—
A. No, the other items are not duty free. These are just the items dealt with
at Torquay. ;

Q. Yes. I had forgotten.—A. The reason why I did not use the total trade
in this statement is quite obvious. For example, we bound raw cotton. It was
already bound to the United States at Geneva. Peru asked for it. It totalled
$67 million alone. The binding of this item was a concession to Peru.

Mr. HargnEess: What do you mean by “bound”?

The WrirNess: The binding of item establishes a maximum tariff rate
beyond which customs duties may be increased during the life of the agreement;
and the only advantage to the country receiving the binding is that it would
have to be consulted before that tariff could be increased.

By Mr. Bennett:

Q. Was there a general agreement at Torquay about dumping duties?—
A. There is a section regarding dumping duties in the general agreement of
tariffs and trade which was not discussed at Torquay. There was another
important. item that was bound to Peru and that was anthracite coal which
was reduced to free at Geneva. Imports under this item were another $47
million. Those two figures alone swell the total. There are many others.

Q. Will you explain how the dumping duty works, if you are through with
that question?—A. The dumping law is in the tariff. It was amended or
modified a few years ago in line with Geneva, and probably the best way of
explaining it is by reading section 6 of the customs tariff. This is a matter of
interpretation, a matter of administration more or less.

The CrarMAN: If any member of the committee really wants authentic
and detailed information in regard to the dumping duties, let us get it. But let
us not get it piece-meal. I shall undertake to provide a witness to give you
that information if you want it. Mr. Callaghan is from the Finance Depart-
ment. He is not from the National Revenue Department.

The Wirness: It is all explained in a circular published by the National
Revenue Department. It is marked Series D-87, Revised. This circular contains
the text of section six of the Customs Tariff. It is all explained there.

Mr. Sincrair: Only a week ago in the House I think the Minister of
Finance made quite a long statement about the principle of dumping duties and
their application to one item.

The CuAmRMAN: Thank you.

The Wrirness: I would not like to explain this section in detail because
I might say something which might not agree wholly with the administration of
this law by the Department of National Revenue.

The CuARMAN: I have been in committee work long enough to know that
if you are going to get anywhere in an inquiry, you must do it in an orderly
fashion. I shall see that the proper witness is brought here for that purpose.

Are there any further questions, Mr. Callaghan, or have you any further
general information?

The Wirness: I would like to add that yesterday Mr. Isbister gave the
committee the general idea of how requests and representations for tariff
reductions in foreign countries were handled.

I shall now deal very briefly with that subject. Before we went to Geneva
in 1947, briefs were obtained. We received about 400 or 425 briefs.

The same principle was followed before Annecy, when I would say about 65
briefs, or something of that order were received.

The same invitation was sent out to the trade before Torquay. But the
number of briefs dropped down to perhaps 35 or 40. However, that does not
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mean that numerous representations were not received. When an association
submits a brief, it has got to satisfy every member of that association, and it is
limited in scope. But in so far as the tariff on exports are concerned, request
may be presented for tariff concessions on any product which we export. When it
comes to the other part of the brief, when they have to offer concessions in the
Canadian tariff, you do not find very many of them. They usually point out
why the Canadian tariff should not be reduced.

Industries and associations have to a considerable extent departed from
written briefs. They prefer to make verbal representations, or write short letters,
after they have made verbal representations. :

Before we went to Torquay hundreds of representations were received, which

- never reached the form of brief. I have had a check made and there are about

4,000 papers which might be called briefs, which accumulated between Annecy
and Torquay.

By Mr. Macdonnell:

Q. What did you do with them?—A. I took them all with me to Torquay.
I may say that I still have them. I admit that I have not fully read every brief
submitted in 1947.

Representations were received from every available source. Many came
from firms in the United States and in the United Kingdom. Many manufac-
turers and business men from the United Kingdom visited Canada before we
left for Torquay on the average of two or three people a week. Onme of the
objects of their visit to this country was to get'preferred tariff treatment on
their goods coming into Canada.

But with respect to the individuals and manufacturing firms in the United
Kingdom, when you' informed them that if we reduced the British preferential
tariff we must also reduce the most-favoured-nation tariff, they invariably came
to the conclusion that things had better be left the way they were, because if
the most-favoured-nation tariff were reduced it might increase their competition
from the United States, France, Germany, and other countries.

I can add nothing more except to assure you that every representation made
received consideration. They were not all acted upon by any means. At Torquay
as you have alredy been told, the practice followed was to give away as little
as possible. I think Mr. McKinnon told you that yesterday.

There are, of course, many tariff requests still on file and not dealt with
because there was not an opportunity. We did not feel like handing out con-
cessions as gratuities to some other country without getting something back in
return, particularly when negotiating trade agreements.

With these general remarks, I am now ready to answer any questions.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. I would like to point out, Mr. Chairman, that so far we have had
Dr. Ishister explaining how they canvassed the Canadian trade which was anxious
to get tariff concessions in other countries—A. I do not have to canvass them.

Q. No. The people in other countries come to you asking for concessions.—
A. Yes.

Q. But you have not yet explained what sort of canvass is made of Canadian
manufacturers wanting to get the benefit of concesssions which you give to other
countries.—A. If they are individual manufacturers, importers or small asso-
ciations, they make representations verbally or by letter; but in the case of
some of the larger associations, a well prepared brief is usually submitted.

By Mr. Macdonnell :
Q. How would they know what to make representations against?—A. They
outline the tariff position on the goods which they manufacture, and they point
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out pretty clearly the dire results which would follow if the tariff were reduced on
any of the products which they make in considerable quantity.

By Mr. Cannon:

Q. Suppose you received a request from a foreign country for a reduction
on two or three tariff items. How would you go about notifying people in
Canada who would be affected by those reductions so that they could make repre-
sentations?—A. By writing to them. :

Q. Do you write to them?—A. Yes, so far as it is possible.

Q. And you do that in all cases?—A. Pretty much so.

By Mr. Bennett:

Q. T understand that the tariff on apples was cut in half, and that it brought
about a lot of trouble last year in connection with the importation of American
apples. It is tariff item No. 93. I see that you have cut it in half. Might I
ask if the apple associations were notified—A. We had a good brief from the
Horticultural Council. Of course, in that case I would not write to every
grower and producer of apples. It would be the Horticultural Council which
would make the representations. They would be made primarily to the Depart-
ment of Agriculture. i

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Also, in that particular case again, the exports to the States were about
ten times as much as the American exports to Canada. So the balance was very
much in our favour.—A. When it comes to details about apples, I shall have to
ask Dr. Richards to afswer the question.

But I can give you another example. It is a case pending which has not been
acted upon. The agent of an English firm in Toronto made representations
several times in regard to the duty on trailer springs, heavy springs for heavy
trailers. .

It is a tariff item with a fair rate in the British preferential, while the most
favoured nation is not much higher. I think it is 221 p.c. under the British
preferential and 274 under the most favoured nation tariff.

This agent wanted to get free entry. But if you make the British preferen-
tial free, then you must reduce the most-favoured-nation to 5 per cent.

We have three or four firms in Canada manufacturing motor vehicle
springs. I obtained the views of the industry in Canada. It was very easy to
consult the manufacturers of springs in Canada. The matter is still pending.

The agent has a pretty good case, but I do not know what the outcome will
be. We endeavour to get both sides of the story. When it comes to apples or
to farm products, there is only one general source of information the Department
of Agriculture or the Horticultural Council. You cannot consult every party
interested.

The CrarMman: Now, gentlemen, shall we go into individual items, having
heard the general remarks?

By Mr. Cannon:

Q. Oh, Mr. Chairman, I am not making a suggestion, but I want to ask
Mr. Callaghan if he does not think that when requests are_received, like that or
from the United States asking for a reduction on certain items, that instead of
leaving it to him, or to a successor who might not have as much experience or as
much knowledge of trade conditions to make up his mind whom they were going
to apply to in this country to argue it, whether it would or would not be a good
thing to provide in the law or in some manner for public notice to be given either
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in the Canada Gazette or in some such way as that, so that everybody would .
have a chance to be informed of any tariff reductions that were requested, rather
than to have it left to his own initiative—A. I am afraid you would have ten
public notices in every issue of the Canada Gazette if you did that. 5

Q. Do you think it would be as bad as that?—A. I think it would be quite
as bad as that. It would be very much like the automobile and the textile indus-
try. In cases where many interests are concerned the minister may decide the
whole question be referred to the Tariff Board for the purpose of a public inquiry
and report. This Tariff Board was set up to look into large industries and to
make inquiries. In that way every party ‘interested is given an opportunity to
be heard. A recommendation is made by the Tariff Board to the minister, after
all the evidence is obtained. Others are dealt with by the office of the Com-
missioner of Tariffs.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further general questions?

By Mr. Thatcher:

Q. I have a question, Mr. Chairman. I wonder if Mr. Callaghan could tell
the committee the number of concessions that were made by Canada to the
United States, as well as the dollar value of them? And then, in turn, I would
like to know what we received from the United States in the way of concessions
as well as the dollar value of them. I would like to -compare what we got
from the United States with what we gave to the United States—A. In the
press release we put in these two paragraphs, which read as follows:

TARIFF CONCESSIONS GRANTED BY CANADA

The tariff concessions made by Canada at Torquay cover 397 items
or sub-items of which 261 are reductions in the present most-favoured-
nation tariff and 136 are bindings of the existing rates of duty. Most of
these bindings cover items already bound at Geneva or Annecy. Only
37 are new bindings. These concessions are shown in Schedule V of the
Torquay agreements, This schedule consists of Part I covering the most-
favoured-nation tariff and Part II covering the preferential tariff.

Canada’s total imports during the calendar year 1949 from all
countries under the 261 items or sub-items on which the most-favoured-
nation tariff was reduced at Torquay amounted to over $391,000,000.
The reductions directly negotiated with the United States cover over
$311,000,000 worth of these imports. Imports from all countries under
the 37 items or.sub-items referred to above as new bindings amounted to
almost $45,000,000 in value of which the United States supplied over
95 per cent.

Now, the direct answer to your question is that we reduced the tariff on
261 items or sub-items. The total trade involved at Torquay from all countries
under these 261 reductions amounted fo $391 million; and of that amount $311
million came from the United States. :

Q. The number of concessions which you made to the United States was
\vh_atm I mean just to the United States alone? What were the concessions
which you made to the United States, the number and the value ‘of them?—
A. The number?

Q. Yes?—A. The number of items?
~ Q. Yes?—A. I have not got the number of items at the moment. I think it
1s nearly 90 per cent of the total. But the value of the reductions to the United
States was about $311 millions. I think the items numbered around 300 or 350,
somethnig like that.
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Q. What was the opposite side of the case, then?
~ Mr. IssisTer: $120 million in the United States was the figure which was
~ given.

By Mr. Thatcher:
Q. Are we to take it then that is the reason why we got so much less from
the United States than we gave them?—A. No.
Q. Is it not $120 millions as compared with $311 millions?>—A. No.

By Mr. Laing:

Q. Is it not 10 per cent of $391 million and 20 per cent of the other figure?
—A. Some of the reductions we got were 50 per cent reductions, from 40 per
cent to 20 per cent. But as a general rule, in a few cases it went further than
21 per cent.

Mr. TaarcHER: You figured it out over there?

The Wrirness: Yes.

Mr. Laing: Have these been worked out in general?

Mr. TuatcHER: Yes, and if you work it out to include the dollar value,
when you include your percentages, I would like to know the dollar value of the
concessions received and the concessions given. You told me that these figures
are for trade which is immediately involved?

The Wirness: Yes.

By Mr. Thatcher:
Q. But in percentages. You must have a figure. Could you not get it for
us at the next meeting perhaps?—A. You would have to take every item.
Q. I do not want you to go to a lot of work.

By the Chairman:

Q. Does it not of necessity change from year to year depending upon trade
conditions?—A. Yes. I could make an estimate of them. I think it is some-
where around 24 per cent of $311 million. No, that is not quite high enough.
5 per cent would be too high for the whole picture. I think I would make an
estimate of between $13 million and $14 million. I think that is the figure
which you had in mind.

By Mr. Thatcher:

Q. The only thing I wanted to establish is: Did we give the United States
too mueh, or was it about the same as we got from them? Can you tell me
that?—A. I know that 2% per cent would be a little too low. I think 5 per cent
would be a little too high. So I think it must be somewhere between the two,
say $13 million or $14 million.

Q. Yes. That is the concession we made to the United States?—A. Yes.

Then what did we get in return for that?

By Mr. Argue:

Q. What percentage is the $120 million?—A. That is my difficulty. I
think that Trade and Commerce could answer that.

Mr. HunTERr: That would not give us a true picture because by a lowering
of the tariff our exports might be greatly extended.

Mr. TaaTcHER: Can you give it to us with 1949 as the base year?

The Wirness: I shall take the figures and try to balance them out.

Mr. Sincrar: According to the example given with regard to British
Columbia plywood, we have had but little export business to the United States
because of this tariff.
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Mr. Hunter: They may have a much higher import now due to our
reductions. . :

Mr, Tuarcuer: All T want is the information I asked for.

The CuammaN: If you sat and considered the matter quietly in your own
minds, you would see how impossible it is even to estimate it.

Mr. ArGuE: It cannot be so impossible, since we already have an estimate
in one case of $13 million to $14 million. Mr. Thatcher is asking only for an
estimate.

The Cuairman: I wonder if Mr. Deutsch would care to comment on this
matter? ;

Mr. DeurscH: It is an extremely difficult problem, Mr. Chairman, to
estimate what the effect of tariff reductions will be in terms of trade.

It is possible, as you will see, that one might make an agreement where
there were reductions on both sides, where the past trade on items on which
concessions received may have been zero, if you took an extreme case.

But suppose we negotiate a tariff agreement with the United States on
items where the tariff in every case was so prohibitive in the past that no trade
could take place. And suppose we should get very substantial concessions, or
suppose we got complete elimination of those tariffs. "If you take simply the
trade measurement in any given year—it always has to be the past year, because
you do not know what the future is going to be—so, for the past year, under
these prohibitive tariffs there would be no trade whatsoever. ;

In such a case, you would say: We got concessions on nothing, whereas
in fact we aectually may have got enormous concessions, depending on how
far those tariffs were brought down, and depending upon the possibilities for
the development of future trade.

I think, statistically speaking, a past situation can tell you very little
about what the future is going to be. That will depend upon how effective
these reductions are going to be in the development of trade.

Naturally, when we are making agreements, the delegation making the
agreements has to assess the possibilities to the best of its capacity. They
know what the industries are, and what the potentialities of those industries are.
They know something of the possibilities of trade in the items concerned. And
on the basis of their judgment they must decide whether an equitable agreement
has been reached.

~ Merely to add up figures of past trade will not tell you what the answer
will be. It will make an interesting bit of information, but it will never tell
you whether an equitable and reciprocal agreement has been reached because
that will depend upon the affect of those reductions on trade in the future, and
you cannot say what that is simply by reference to trade in the past.

Mr. SincrAIR: One year from now, could you not take an item on which you
‘have made concessions, and on which there may be trade after one year follow-
ing the negotiations, and compare it with the trade of the year before?

Mr. Deursa: Yes. Thereby you would get the first indication. We could
take the year 1950 in which year the tariffs were as they were before Torquay,
and having taken the trade for the year after June 6th and compared them
it would give us the first indication. But even that would not be a conclusive
indication because some of the industries that are taking advantage of the
reductions may require several years to get into a position to take full advantage
of the concessions.

There are a number of cases like that. Consider the plywood industry as
an example. They have not been geared for full-out export to the United States
in the past. The affect of the 40 per cent tariff was prohibitive. There is no
need of going over that. But that tariff has now been cut in half. So it may
be that the industry will require a few years to build up its capacity in order to
take full advantage of that reduction.
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Mr. LaiNg: They are afraid that it won’t, in the State of Wéshington.

Mr. Drurscu: The industry has been able, up to the present time, to get
over the 40 per cent tariff to some extent. But I believe that cutting the rate
in half will be of very great benefit to the industry. However as to what will
happen in the future, I cannot say.

The CHalRMAN: It will depend in part upon the industry itself.

Mr. Deursch: Taking views of past trade and judging from them what the
future is going to be is a very difficult thing to do.

Mr. Laina: We have got a theoretical figure on the record now as to what
we have given away. As nearly as I can make out in the case of lead and zinc
alone it amounts to $8 million.

Mr. DeurscH: This calculation you are speaking of is really an estimate of
the changes in duties. It is not trade. All we are saying is how much in the
way of duties we gave up. -All that it tells you is how much less revenue we are
getting, assuming that the trade remains the same. -

Mr. Tuarcuer: Did the delegation feel that what they got from the United
States was reasonably similar to what they gave?

Mr. DeurscH: Yes, otherwise they would not have agreed to it.

Mr. TaaTcHER: Did you find that you were not able to get what you wanted
because of the American’s hands being tied by this 50 per cent clause?

Mr. Drurscu: Yes. But that is another question. We did not by any
means get everything the way we would have liked to get it, partly because of
that 50 per cent limitation and partly because of other factors.

Of course, that is precisely what is taken into account when you decide
what you think you should get.

You have to bear in mind the limit of their capacity to give you concessions,
and you judge your whole plan of strategy in the light of what you know they
can give, or are likely to give, or what, in the end, they do give to you; and you
decide how much you can afford to give on your side.

You try to get mutually advantageous arrangements. You can never
weigh it exactly in the scales, because there are so many imponderables
entering into the question. So you try to use the best possible judgment you can.

Mr. Laing: With respect to this theoretical figure we have applied to the
concessions, I take it Mr. Callaghan estimated it out of last year’s experience?

Mr. DeuTscH: Yes.

Mr. Laine: May we get a further theoretical figure out of last year’s
experience?

Mr. DeutscH: I would say that what you are getting is an estimate of the
change in duties, provided the trade remains the same.

The CuamMAN: And if trade should double, you are even.

Mr. DeurscH: Yes.

Mr. Sixcrair: One other point which I think should be on the record is
this: Very important concessions were made on canned salmon in British
Columbia. The salmon people there feel they cannot get into the American
market right now. They have the salmon, but they say it will take some time
for them to establish a trade name. They believe that the Americans will
continue to buy the American brands, and that it will not be until the first
second, or even the third year, and by the time these provisions of the Torquay
agreements lapse, that you will then be in a position to give a very accurate
estimate of the improvement in our trade because of this agreement.




S

T—

e TS

kS

FEErm e e

BANKING AND COMMERCE 51

Mr. Deurscu: That is right.  About three years from now you will have
a pretty good idea of what the effect of these reductions will be. I think it will
take that length of time for them to take full advantage of what they have

ot now. . ;
2 In the case of the Geneva agreement the same thing was true. I mean the
1947 Geneva agreement.

I think it was said that we got concessions of $89 millions of trade, and it
was assumed that the trade would exceed $89 millions; and if you look back
to what happened to trade between 1947 and 1950, you will see there has been
an enormous increase in many of the items in which concessions were obtained
at Geneva. The increase has amounted to many many times this figure of
$89 million. It is almost ten times that figure.

Mr. Hark~Eess: The increase would be due to a large extent to other
factors?

Mr. DreurscH: Yes.

Mr. McKin~Non: Mr. Chairman, might I say how unrealistic it is to take
the dollar value of past trade which, after all is just an historical figure, and use
it as a yardstick. : y

I know what is in the minds of some of the committee, namely, the apparent
disparity, the arithmetical disparity, between the figure of $310 million or
$311 million on one side, and the figure of $110 million or $111 million on the
other side.

Between $150 million and $200 million of one of these totals is made up
by imports entering Canada under two items only, and on those two items the
reduction we put into effect is only 24 per cent.

In other words, a total import value of something approaching $200,000,000
out of $300,000,000 odd is represented by imports in two items and one sub-item
on which the rates were reduced by only 2% per cent. As a result of our rather
small reduction, the trade may. be very little increased as far as imports from
the United States are concerned. But when we get a 50 per cent reduction on
products such as plywood, as well as a number of 25 per cent reductions on
other important exports, I think it shows pretty clearly that you are comparing
things which are not alike.

Mr. TrATCHER: You say that it is unreal to base these concessions upon
past figures. How precisely do you base them, then?

Mr. McKinxon: You mean: How do we know when we have got an
agreement?

Mr. TuaarcaeEr: No. How do you try to balance the quid pro quo between
two countries, if you do not use past figures as a basis?

Mr. McKinxon: I admit that past figures are all you have got to go on,
so far as something tangible and concrete is concerned. On the other hand,
I would never agree that you could make an agreement by matching up equal
dollar values on both sides. I do not think that would ever provide for a mutually
satisfactory agreement,

Mr. TuarcHER: Do you not try to get as much as you can?

Mr. McKinnon: Certainly we try. Our purpose in every agreement is to
get all we can and to give as little as possible. And you only know when you
have an agreement by the sense of it, by the feel of -it. It is not a case of
balancing one item against another item. It is not a case of complete reciprocity
with any two items. It is a case of getting the sense of your own concessions as
against what you réceived from the other. I would submit again with all
respect that the figure of past trade is not a realistic yardstick at all.
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Mr. Laine: Since we have a record of $13 million or $14 million, I would
be happy to see the agreement now made applied to last year’s experience.

Mr. McKinnon: You mean on the export side?

Mr, Sincrar: Yes.

Mr. McKinnon: Here is another factor. You must take into consideration
in connection with particular products, let us say, aluminum, that a very small
reduction in the existing rate may mean a very great increase in exports. But
in other cases a very much greater reduction in the rate of duty may not
appreciably increase the exports or the imports. So much depends on the
particular commodity with which you are dealing.

I do not know if Dr. Isbister is prepared to comment on the export side.

Mr. CarroLL: A prophecy was made that the export of Atlantic fish, after
this thing got to work, would increase by $25 million.

Mr. IsBister: I was not able to follow Mr. Callaghan’s calculation in
arriving at the $14 million. I am not sure what it is based on.

I would like to say that as principal negotiator in relation to the tariffs
of other countries, I did not have the statistics in my mind during the progress
of the Torquay negotiations. But I did have in mind constantly during that
time that we were attempting to open up opportunities for export into other
countries.

I would like to give an example which has not yet been mentioned. 1T
would like to refer to it because of the fact that very little publicity has been
given to it. It is an obscure concession which was made to us by the United
States. It consisted quite simply of binding a particular item for free entry.
The item I refer to is the dross or residuum of burnt pyrites. It happens to
be a substance which has been thrown on the slag heap. One of our great base
metal producing companies for years and years. This company has recently
been wondering whether to invest a large sum of money on a plant to process
this waste material and produce iron for export.

If this project should go ahead, it would involve millions of dollars in terms
of investment in Canada, and it would lead possibly to many millions of dollars
of exports over the years. All that we did-at Torquay was to obtain the
binding of free entry in the United States tariff. In other words, we obtained,
for this company, the assurance of knowing that these tariffs will not be
increased. Therefore, the company is now free to go ahead with its plant,
should they decide to do so. - I cannot possibly attach statistics to the value
of this concession but it is worth a great deal.

Mr. McKinnon: You mean you cannot show a dollar in value.

Mr. TIsBistErR: Not a single dollar because there never was any trade in it,
and we cannot put a value on it. That is the best answer I can give to the
question. T am sorry that I cannot provide total statisties.

Mr. McKinnon: And that was a concession which was specifically requested
by that company.

Mr. IsBister: Oh, yes.

Mr. Apamson: Therefore the company can go ahead and spend, let us say,
..6 million or $7 million, knowing that they are going to have a market for their

product.
Mr. IssisteEr: Yes, knowing that the opportunity has been kept open for

them.
Mr. Apamson: And knowing that if they go ahead and build a plant they
will not find themselves thrown out of the market.

Mr. IsBisteEr: That is merely one of many examples of what happened.

]
|
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Mr. Gour: Mr. Chairman, the people who went over to Torquay on our
behalf did not go there to sell out Canada. They went there to create business
opportunities for this country. They went there to try to open new markets
for goods which we are producing, and which we will produce, if we have the
kind of tariffs that these countries have. I am glad to hear what you have
had to say. You cannot estimate the future in terms of dollars. If you open
new markets for our manufacturers, it may mean more millions of dollars
to us in the way of exports, it will certainly create new industries here, and
it will be of great assistance to our manufacturers.

I am firmly of the opinion that you have done a good job, and I hope that
you will continue to do so. I do not care so much about what it will amount
to tomorrow, but rather about what it will bring in over a period of years from
now.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further general questions?

Mr. Apamson: If you find that my question is going to be embarrasing to
answer then do not answer it. But did you find there was an inclination on the
part of the United States to go further than 50 per cent in the reductions on
base metals, lead, copper, zine, aluminum, and nickel, the major base metals?

Mr. McKixnon: I would prefer that Dr. Isbister answered your question.
When you speak of “inclination on the part of the United States”, if by that you
mean on the part of the United States’ negotiators, my answer would be un-
doubtedly, yes. But whether or not that would be backed up by the opinion of
members of the United States government is another matter. I do not want
to bring personal confidences into this, but I do know that in respect to one
of the base metals, of which. I know you are thinking, it was the opinion—may
be what I have to say had better not be included in the record, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. CuairMaN: Very well, you may proceed but it will be off the record.
(At this point the proceedings of the committee continued off the record).

Mr. MacponNeLn: We have had certain matters which came up and which
were dealt with in relation to the budget. And at that time I asked a question
which I shall now ask again. Certain matters were dealt with at Torquay as
I understand it. Why would that be? What is the basis of the decision as to
what items are negotiated, let us say, at Torquay and what items are negotiated
on this side of the water?

Mr. McKinvon: Dr. Deutsch was in Canada while I was on the other side
of the water, so maybe Mr. Deutsch will answer your question.

Mr. DeurscH: As Mr. Macdonnell knows, when it comes around budget
time we receive a great many requests for adjustment of tariffs. That is normal
each year, and this year as in others, we received the usual number of requests
for adjustment in the tariff. They had to be dealt with in some way. In the
past few years when we have had these requests, we have as far as possible
gried to hold them back in anticipation of these negotiations with the United

tates.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: You mean at Torquay?

Mr. DeurscH: Yes, at Torquay. And we have said in the last two years
when we were approached with requests for adjustments in the tariff: If it is
not something which is absolutely urgent and necessary at this time, we would
like to hold it for the purpose of negotiation.

This year we received many requests, a great many of which we knew were
being discussed at Torquay. So we simply said: Those are matters which are
being discussed at Torquay, and we shall deal with them there.

There were a number of things which we knew were not being discussed at
Torquay, and therefore we considered them. However, before official decisions

87440—2
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- were taken by the minister, the Hon. Mr. Abbott, we referred all the requests
we had to him and said: NOW can you, in any way, use any of these to advantage |
in your negotiations? If so, let us know which ones you can use, which ones you
cannot use, and which ones are of no consequence so far as negotiations are
concerned. We put in the budget only those items which could not be used to
advantage at Torquay. Does that answer your question, Mr. Macdonnell? g

Mr. MAcDONNELL: Yes, it does. ~

Mr. Apamson: I think it was mentioned yesterday that there was great
interest with respect to Germany. What were they anxious to sell? Or what
were they particularly anxious to get? Is there any statement on that? .

Mr. McKinnon: I think that Dr. Isbister could tell you about the com-
modities because he had the most to do with the Germans with regard to exports.
Mr. Callaghan -can tell you in a word or two what items in the tariff they put
the most pressure on.

Mr. Apamson: I think you said that Germany was the key to the whole
European situation, did you not?

Mr. McKinvon: I did say that of all the existing contracting parties in
Europe with whom we tried to get bigger and better agreements, we singled out
France and Germany particularly, because between the two of them they may
well provide the key to European commercial policy in the near future. There-
fore we were anxious to make a good agreement with Germany, for the first
time, and to improve in as large measure as possible the existing agreement with
France. Now perhaps Dr. Isbister would speak about the export end.

Mr. IsBisTeEr: Mr. Chairman since the war we have been well aware of
the fact that the Federal German Republic no longer possessed those eastern
regions which used to provide the whole of Germany with food and raw mate-
rials, and therefore that Germany would probably in the future be a much better
complementary partner with Canada than she has ever been in the past. We
went to Torquay confidently expecting that it would be possible to obtain from
Germany concessions on many of those agricultural and fisheries products and
on primary materials which Canada has in great abundance available for export.

As it turned out, we found that our hopes were fulfilled, and that the
Germans were most anxious to discuss a broad range of commodities with us.
Germany at this time, of course, is short of dollar purchasing power, so that
again we were pointing up opportunities for the future rather than for the imme-
diate present. The actual concessions which we received from Germany
covered in the agricultural field a range of products such as bacon, processed
milks, including cheese, honey, sausage casings, peas, fresh apples, dried apples
and pears, white flour, linseed, mustard seed, red clover seed, various varieties
of crop seeds, tallow, linseed oil, canned sausage, other types of canned meats,
tomato juice, bran oil cake; and in the fisheries field there was a list of products
such as salmon, eels fish roe, herring, canned lobster, fish meal, stick water
which is a by- product of the fisheries industry, and pearl essence, which is
another by-product.

In addition to this, Mr. Chairman, there was a diversified list of concessions
on manufactured goods including the products of lumber and forestry industries
and others.

If the committee is interested, I can very easily submit a list of the conces-
sions received from Germany, to indicate the concessions which we received there.

The Cramrman: Would you like to have that?

Mr. Apamson: I do not want to get too much on this, but I am rather
interested.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further general questions?
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Mr. Tuarcuer: Dr. Isbister has stated that these concessions will probably
be of more advantage in the future because of the present German dollar short-

age. The question just arises in my mind as to what protection Canada has in

the future with respect to some of these countries giving concessions, and then
using quotas and exchange regulations and things like that to cancel out those
concessions. Is there that danger? Or is there an escape clause in the agreement?

Mr. Issister: This agreement pertains to tariffs. There is no danger that
concessions on tariffs will be withdrawn because of currency difficulties. On the
other hand, countries in currency difficulty may find it necessary to impose
import restrictions or currency controls upon dollar imports and should that type
of thing happen, it would be no more possible to avoid it than it has been in
the past.

In the recent past, our experience has been that most European countries
have been in possession of more dollars to purchase goods than they were shortly
after the war and they are increasingly interested in knowing what products we
have for export.

Mr. TuATCHER: As far as Germany is concerned, whatever they have given
to us on these concessions, they may not be immediately able to take advantage
of because of their dollar shortage?

Mr. IsBisteEr: That is true. The German economy has not been stabilized
since the war. The country is very much smaller than it was before the war.
Inflation has been a continuing problem with them. Production has also been
a continuing problem, and their external trade position has been a most difficult
one.
Our attitude at Torquay towards Germany was that we welcomed her back
into the world trade and tariff organization, and we shared along with other
countries the hope that this was one step in the process by which Germany will
achieve stability and a return to the channels of normal trade.

Mr. Tuarcuaer: Would there be any other countries of which the same
might be true? 1 mean countries in which we got concessions but which would
not mean very much to us at the present time because of this exchange difficulty?
What about Britain or France?

Mr. IsBistEr: We did not negotiate with Britain; but in the case of France,
we received concessions on a number of products which we know France is very
anxious to import at the present time. And we also know that the dollar: posi-
tion of France has improved considerably during the past year.

Mr. TuAarcHER: Is Germany the only country for which your statement
would hold true?

Mr. Issister: The only way to answer your question is to refer to the gen-
eral agreement on tariffs and trade, which contains provisions to permit any
country, including ourselves, should it get into currency difficulties, to impose
emergency controls for a temporary period during which its difficulties persist.
But when those difficulties have been overcome, the controls must be removed.
Those provisions are in Articles XII to XIV of the General Agreement on Tariffs
and Trade which we took advantage of in 1947 when Canada got into difficulties.

All of the countries which are members of the General Agreement on
Tariffs and Trade have the privilege of resorting to these provisions should
they get into balance of payment difficulties. So the only possible answer to
your question is that these provisions do exist and may be taken advantage of
by anyone, in a case of need. But they are carefully safeguarded.

Mr. Taarcuer: The only country which is taking advantage of them
at the moment is western Germany. Is that correct?
© 87440—23



56 - STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. IsBisTER: No, that is not true. There are other countries as well.

Mr. TuarcuER: What countries? %

Mr. IsBister: It would take a long time to go through the list and deseribe
the import controls which exist in all the countries with which we have
negotiated, and I do not believe I could do it briefly. They are important
in the case of Germany.

Mr. TuarcuEr: All I wanted was the names of the countries in which we
have obtained concession but which may not be able to take advantage of
those concessions during the coming year because of exchange difficulty or
because of quotas or something of that nature which their governments impose.

Mr. IsBisteER: It would not be possible to answer your question simply by
giving the name of the country, because we have to consider whether or not
the country needs to obtain the particular produect despite the fact of its
currency difficulties. I refer to France which has quite a number of .import
controls in existence. They were imposed to safeguard the general currency -
position. In spite of this the French have begun to release some of their import
controls. These releases apply to a number of products on which they gave
us concessions at Torquay. Therefore, an accurate answer to your question
in the case of France would involve not only mention of the country but also
involve going through a long list and commenting on whether or not Canadian
products are being imported in these particular items. It would be a tremendous
undertaking.

Mr. Tuarcuer: All I wanted to know in a general way was whether there
were many concessions which we got from many countries which are going to be
made ineffective because. of quotas and exchange regulations?

Mr. IsBistEr: The largest single negotiation was with the United States,
and the question of import controls does not arise there. In relation to the group
of agreements negotiated with countries of continental Europe, all of them to
a greater or lesser degree have import controls against dollar goods at the
present time. The question of how many of these import controls affect produets
negotiated at Torquay is something which must be examined case by case. In
the case of Latin American countries with whom we carried on negotiations at
Torquay, the question of import controls is not very serious on the commodities
involved. Similarly in relation to countries in the Asiatic hemisphere with
whom we carried on negotiations, for the particular product and the particular
countries involved, this question did not rise to any great extent.

Mr. Laing: In view of the fact that West Germany has been mentioned,
I would like to have some comment on our present position with respect to
Japan. Are we not experiencing a rising trade, both export and import, with
Japan? And what would be the prospects in the future for working with
Japan on the basis on which we formerly worked with her?

Mr. McKix~Non: Since Japan was not present at Torquay and is not a
member of the general agreement club, we did not encounter that at all. Possibly
Mr. Deutsch, speaking from a purely domestic point of view, might answer your
question. y

Mr. Devursca: All I can add to what Mr. MeKinnon has said is that the
question did not come up at Torquay. Japan was not a member of the general
agreement on tariffs and trade and was not present at Torquay, so we did not
negotiate with Japan. The whole question of what our difficulties would be
with Japan is something which has not arisen at the present time.

As you may know, Japan comes under the general tariff, so she does not
benefit from any of these reductions which we made at Torquay or at Geneva.
She did not get any of the benefits of this trade agreement. She comes under
what we call the general tariff. She pays a higher tariff rate and that is her
position at the present time. :
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% Mr. Lane: Are Canadian importers at the present time dealing with
. Japan directly? Or do they have to deal with Japan through the Americans
as a third party, or through the American government?

Mr. Deurscr: That situation has been changing rapidly in the last few

. years. The original status of the occupation was that foreign trade was

. practically under the control of the occupation forces. But that has been

. modified greatly and increasingly, so that today I understand the Japanese have

E been gradually becoming autonomous in their foreign trade relations, but not
completely autonomous.

It is true that the American control authorities have an ultimate veto
over anything they do, and I think that Japan operates under general instruction
or general guidance from the occupation forces. And if Japan does anything
of which the occupation forces do not approve, the forces have the power to stop
it. But to some extent, I think the position there is returning to mormaley. I
think they are getting back a good measure of autonomy subject to the over-

. riding control of the occupation forces.
i Mr. Laing: Can we assume that, upon the completion of a peace treaty,
. we can invite Japan to participate in the “club”?
Mr. Deursca: All we can say is—as you may have seen in a speech
. delivered by Mr. Dulles, who is negotiating a Japanese peace treaty on behalf
| of President Truman—that I believe Mr. Dulles has said that one of the
| objectives of a peaceful settlement with Japan is to bring about her return to
the international trade community. So I think under the conditions of the
peace treaty there will be an effort made to bring Japan back as a unit.
i Mr. Lamxa: 1 understand that our exports to Japan on the west coast
*  were in the neighbourhood of $40 million to $50 million annually.
‘ Mr. DeurscH: Yes.
I Mr. Laing: And that they are rising, but all subject to the occupation
| control. _
Mr. DeurscH: That is right. I think if a peace treaty is developed, there
f will be an effort made to bring Japan back into the general community of
nations in trading matters. But so far we have not had to deal with the question
| because Japan is not a member of the general agreement on tariffs and trade
' and she has not done anything about it since the war. As I have said, Japan
is on the general tariff and that is her position at the present time.
Mr. McKinnon: I think it is pretty safe to assume that Japan will apply
& for membership. I do mot think there is any doubt about that.
i Mr. TaarcHER: Perhaps I did not follow this too well, but I understood
that Canada has not been able to trade with Japan to any great degree during
g the last five years because of the American occupation authorities preventing it.
E Mr. Deurscu: No. I do not want to give you that impression.
Mr. TuATcHER: My understanding was that they have mnot been co-
w operative in that respect.
“- Mr. DeurscH: I think one of the troubles about Japan is that they have
. to trade with borrowed money. After the war Japan was bankrupt as far as
b external trade was concerned. So the greatest difficulty with respect to our
trade with Japan has been the lack of foreign exchange which Japan would
have to pay for imports.
Mr. Taarcuer: You think that the American occupation authorities have
been quite co-operative?
Mr. Sincrair: The Americans have paid the shot for the last five years.
Mr. Laing: $3 billion,

i Mr. Deurscu: The Japanese themselves were completely without funds
or exchange. Practically all the exchange they got was provided for them by
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the United States. In a case of that kind, obviously the Americans who put
up the money would have something to say as to how it was used. And while
the Americans were in the position where they were putting up large sums of
money or exchange, the expenditure of that exchange was pretty much subject
to American control.

Of the many exports we sent to Japan from here, a good many of them
in fact were paid for out of grants given by the United States. And therefore
in our dealings we were influenced, of course, by whatever controls the Americans

“exercised, and we were bound to be, because they put up the money.

But that situation has been changing. Japanese trade has increased, and
they are less dependent today on the United States. To an increasing degree
they are coming back to an autonomous position, but not completely so. The
occupation authorities still have the right to exercise a veto over their arrange-
ments.

I do not know how often they intervened. Perhaps it was only in a general
way. But our trade has been growing with Japan, and in the past five years
there has been a very substantial increase.

Mr. Taarcaer: Have we got a Trade Commissioner over there in Japan
again? !

Mr. DrurscH: Yes, for some years now, and when we get into difficulties
with the American authorities, we have people who are on the spot, both a
Trade Commissioner and an official representative of the Canadian government.
He is an official representative of Canada. We have a representative on the
spot to work with the American occupation authorities, and on many occasions
we have had quite a lot of dealings with them in order to straighten out things
to explain what was happening, and to put forward our point of view.

Mr. LaiNg: I think that is reflected in the way that trade has been going up.

Mr. DeurscH: Yes. Trade has been going up and it has been possible to
develop an increasing amount of trade with them, subject to such control as is
exercised by the American authorities.

Mr. MacpoNNELL: Is the United States still paying the shot for it?

Mr. DrurscH: They are still paying some subsidy, but it is very much
smaller than it was a few years ago.

Mr. Sincrair: If a merchant lends money to an insolvent farmer, he would
not expect that farmer to do his purchasing with another merchant. But once
that farmer became solvent again, he then could buy wherever he chose.

Mr. Drursca: We had some difficulty of that kind. The Americans put
up the money and there was a tendency for the Japanese to buy in the United
States. But we have been able to get in on it increasingly.

Mr. CrestoHL: Has there been any encounters with respect to dealings
with blocked currency countries such as the middle East block or the Arab
countries, or were they all largely individual countries?

Mr. McKinNoN: As far as negotiations at Torquay were concerned, they
were entirely with individual countries.

Mr. Apamson: I wonder if we could have the things Germany wanted—to fill
out the other half of the picture.

Mr. CaLLagHAN: Germany submitted a very comprehensive list of. requests
on Canada. It covered about 150 items—somewhere in that neighbourhood.
We gave Germany concessions on about 30 items of interest to that country.

During the negotiations the Germans realized many of their requests were
impossible to grant and they agreed to divide them into categories 1, 2 and 3.

No. 1 items were the ones they regard as being most important; No. 2,
they were interested; No. 3—well, if we could do something they would appre-
ciate it.




BANKING AND COMMERCE 59

The negotiations dragged on during nearly the whole time we were at
Torquay. The German request list was based on their trade with Canada in 1933
and 1934. They kept telling us that they did a substantial business in these

products during those years and that they would like to get back into the

Canadian market. It was a difficult request list but in the end we satisfied the
' Germans by giving them concessions on certain items. Those items represent in
a general way the nature of the goods that were in the original request list.

There was a duty free binding on tree seeds which is not very important.
They asked for a binding on tourist literature issued by national or state govern-
ments or departments thereof. It was already duty free so we bound that item.

They asked for a binding of the tariff item covering advertising and printed
matter generally, which is a very complicated item. We did not make any
reduction but gave them a binding on that item with all its provisos. The bulk
of it is ten cents a pound but not less than 25 per cent.

Oxalic acid was previously dateable at 10 per cent, we reduced the rate to
7% per cent. Formic acid has been reduced from 15 per cent to 124 per cent.
Those were two chief items in the chemical field.

The tariff was reduced from 22} per cent to 174 per cent on artists’ brushes.
They were interested in activated clay, when imported for use in the refining of
oils. This product has been 10 per cent since 1939, and we bound the existing
rate. The requested tariff concessions on toilet articles of all kinds including
atomizers, brushes, buffers, button hooks, combs, cuticle knives, hair receivers,
hand mirrors, jewel boxes, manicure scissors, nail files, perfume bottles, puff jars,
shoe horns, trays and tweezers, of which the manufactured component material
of chief value is sterling silver. We reduced the rate on these articles from
30 per cent to 25 per cent. :

Then they discussed clocks, cuckoo clocks, and clocks that stand about a
foot high. We gave them a very slight reduction on clocks other than alarm
clocks, not being electric. The present tariff is 30 per cent with a minimum
duty of not less than 40 cents each. We reduced it to 25 per cent without the
minimum duty.

The only concession we gave them on steel products was on chains of iron
or steel. The rate was 25 per cent and which we reduced to 224 per cent.

They were also after concessions on printing machinery. We gave them
a binding on item 412d, the item covering offset presses, lithographic presses,
printing presses and typemaking accessories therefor.

They put great pressure on Canada for concessions on cutlery of all kinds.
. We gave them a reduction on penknives, jackknives and pocket knives—from 20
per cent to 174 per cent, and a reduction on razors and complete parts thereof,
and razor blades n.o.p., from 27} per cent to 25 per cent. These razors referred
to are the old fashioned straight razors.

_The next item we gave a concession on dealt with photographic cameras and
equipment. Item 462a which has been referred to the Tariff Board and reported
about the middle of 1950. It was held for the negotiations at Torquay. It was
a very valuable concession because it reduced the tariff on certain cameras and
parts from various rates to “free”. They appreciated that item although the
chief beneficiary, regardless, will probably be the United States.

We gave them a reduction from 35 per cent to 30 per cent on woven or
braided fabries not exceeding 12 inches in width, whether with cut pile or not,
wholly or in part of wool.

We gave them a reduction on mouth-organs from 174 per cent to 10 per cent;
gramophone needles from 20 per cent to 15 per cent.

They asked for and were interested in a concession on whips of all kinds,
including thongs and lashes. We reduced the rate from 273 per cent to 224
per cent.
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They pressed for concessions on toys of all kinds but the only concession
we gave them was on mechanical to